
AGENDA
MEETING VENUE:

Anglia Room, The 
Conference Suite, 

Elizabeth House, Dereham

Our Ref: JB

Contact: Julie Britton
Direct Dial: 01362 656343
e-mail: julie.britton@breckland.gov.uk

Date: Tuesday, 28 November 2017

Dear Sir/Madam,

Members of the Council are hereby summoned to a Meeting of the District Council which 
will be held at 10.00 am on Thursday, 7th December, 2017 in the Anglia Room, The 
Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

Yours faithfully

Anna Graves
Chief Executive

ON BEHALF OF THE CHAIRMAN,
AND TO CELEBRATE THE FORTHCOMING CHRISTMAS FESTIVITIES, 
MINCE PIES AND OTHER REFRESHMENTS WILL BE AVAILABLE TO 
ALL MEMBERS FROM 9.30AM ONWARDS.

The Democratic Services Officer to call the roll of Members

Members of the Council requiring further information, or with specific questions, 
are asked to raise these with the appropriate officer at least two working days 
before the meeting.  If the information requested is available, this will be 
provided, and reported to Council.

Public Document Pack





Council
07 December 2017

Page(s)
herewith

1. APOLOGIES 
To receive apologies for absence.  

2. MINUTES 5 - 17
To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 2 November 2017.

3. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
The duties to register, disclose and not to participate for the entire consideration 
of the matter, in respect of any matter in which a Member has a disclosable 
pecuniary interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 2011.  Members 
are also required to withdraw from the meeting room as stated in the Standing 
Orders of this Council.

4. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 18 - 19

5. LEADER'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 
To receive a verbal update from Councillor Nunn, Leader of the Council.

6. QUESTIONS ON NOTICE UNDER STANDING ORDER NO 6 

7. QUESTIONS WITHOUT NOTICE UNDER STANDING ORDER NO 7 

8. PLANNING COMMITTEE 20 - 26
Confirmed minutes of the Planning Committee meeting held on 23 October 
2017.

9. OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMISSION 27 - 36
Unconfirmed minutes of the Overview and Scrutiny Commission meeting held 
on 2 November 2017.

10. LOCALISED COUNCIL TAX REDUCTION SCHEME (LCTRS) 2018-19 
REVIEW 

37 - 68

Report of Paul Claussen, Executive Member Place.

11. AMENDMENTS TO CONSTITUTION 69 - 87
Report of Maxine O’Mahony, Executive Director Strategy & Governance and the 
Monitoring Officer for Breckland Council.

12. NOMINATIONS FOR COMMITTEE AND OTHER SEATS (IF ANY) 
To receive nominations for any changes to Committee and other seats from 
political groups.



Council
07 December 2017

Page(s)
herewith

13. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE URGENT - 
NOTE: No other business is permitted unless by reason of special 

circumstances, which shall be specified in the minutes, the Chairman is 
of the opinion that the items(s) should be considered as a matter of 
urgency.

Member Briefing - Growth & Commercialisation Presentation

For Information
CHAIRMAN AND EXECUTIVE MEMBERS' SURGERY

At the end of the Council meeting, Chairmen of Committees and Executive 
Members will be available to members who wish to put forward specific 
questions, for example on ward issues.



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

COUNCIL

Held on Thursday, 2 November 2017 at 10.00 am in the
Anglia Room, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

PRESENT
Mr S.G. Bambridge
Councillor C. Bowes
Mr R. F. W. Brame
Mr M. P. Brindle
Mr T. R. Carter
Mr S. H. Chapman-Allen
Mr H. E. J. Clarke
Mr P.D. Claussen
Mr J.P. Cowen
Mr P. M. M. Dimoglou
Mr P.J. Duigan
Mr K.S. Gilbert
Councillor E. Gould
Mrs T. Hewett
Mrs J. Hollis
Mr T. J. Jermy
Mr A.P. Joel
Mr R.G. Kybird
Mr K. Martin

Mrs S.M. Matthews
Mrs K. Millbank (Chairman)
Mrs L.H. Monument
Mr T. F. C. Monument
Mr M. J. Nairn
Mr J.W. Nunn
Mr D. R. R. Oliver
Mr R. R. Richmond
Mr W. R. J. Richmond
Mr J.D. Rogers
Mr F.J. Sharpe
Mr W.H.C. Smith
Mr A.C. Stasiak
Mr M. Taylor
Mr M. A. Wassell
Mrs A. M. Webb
Mr N.C. Wilkin
Mr P. S. Wilkinson

In Attendance
Anna Graves - Chief Executive
Maxine O'Mahony - Executive Director of Strategy & Governance 

(Monitoring Officer)
Rob Walker - Executive Director Place
Mark Stinson - Executive Manager Governance (Deputy Monitoring 

Officer)
Julie Britton - Democratic Services Officer

145/17 APOLOGIES (AGENDA ITEM 1) 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors, Ashby, Askew, Borrett, 
Marion Chapman-Allen, Crawford, Darby, Duffield, Paul Hewett, Newton, 
Robinson, Sherwood and Turner.

146/17 MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 2) 

a) Questions without Notice under Standing Order No. 7 (Minute No. 135/17)

 First sentence, the word ‘evasive’ to be changed to ‘invasive’.

 Third paragraph, third sentence, the word ‘Role’ to be changed to 
‘Roll’.

b) Adoption

Subject to the aforementioned amendments, the Minutes of the meeting 
held on 21 September 2017 were confirmed as a correct record and signed 
by the Chairman.

5

Agenda Item 2



Council
2 November 2017

2

Action 
By

147/17 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS (AGENDA ITEM 3) 

None.

148/17 POLICING IN BRECKLAND (AGENDA ITEM 4) 

The Chairman introduced and welcomed Chief Inspector Paul Wheatley and Police 
Engagement Officer, Amy Lucas to the meeting.

Members were then provided with a detailed presentation.

The presentation highlighted the recent changes and proposals to remove the 
Police Community Support Officers (PCSOs) and increase the Police Officers’ pro-
active capabilities in the Breckland area.  

Due to budget cuts, Norfolk Constabulary wanted to remove the posts of PCSO 
and concentrate its resources on tackling growth in complex crimes. 

The cost of employing PCSOs had risen to the point that they were now only 
£1,800 a year cheaper than a fully trained Police Officer.

PCSOs did not have the full powers of a Police Officer; they could not arrest or 
interview a suspect, their hours were limited but were cheaper to train and employ.

The money saved, about £1.6m, would be used to fund 81 new Police Officers and 
16 support staff. There would be a number of closures to public counters and 
Officers stationed in some schools would be withdrawn.

The proposed plans would deliver the most responsive Police Services for Norfolk, 
meeting the needs of the communities whilst protecting the most vulnerable in the 
society.

In Breckland, this would equate to the loss of 15 PCSOs; however, 14 Police 
Officers and 4 Police Sergeants would be gained.  

Swaffham and Attleborough Police Stations would be closed; however, 
Attleborough would be moved to a new site combined with the Fire Station - 
Dereham and Thetford Stations would remain open and many new systems would 
be put in place.

Between September 2016 and August 2017, 814 high risk crimes were recorded in 
the Breckland area which required specialist capabilities of Police Officers and staff 
within the Safeguarding & Investigations (S&I) unit.  The S&I Teams would be 
increased to provide Countywide cover and would eventually work from state of the 
art premises based in Broadland and Breckland.  

The areas of work that the Police Engagement Officer, Amy Lucas would be 
responsible for in the Breckland area were explained including, to name but a few, 
Neighbourhood Watch, Community Speed-Watch, managing social media 
accounts and communicating with the Town & Parish Councils.  

Any other ideas/issues would be welcomed.  

The Operation Partnership Teams (OPT) and assistance within the early help hub 
would remain and a new uniformed Neighbourhood Policing Team would be 

6



Council
2 November 2017

3

Action 
By

introduced to tackle and deal with the many problems in the District.  There would 
also be a team called Operation ‘Moonshot’ consisting of 16 PC’s and 2 Sergeants 
to tackle the more serious crimes in the area. 

All PCs would be provided with a tablet and a mobile phone and have body cams 
fitted which would assist in Court.
The following questions were asked:

Domestic violence had risen in Thetford what amount of these Officers will be 
trained in this capacity? 
The Safeguarding Investigation hub will deal with these issues as a priority.

Will there be any gap in service when migrating from the old model to the new 
model?
There could be a slight struggle whilst posts were being filled. A number of posts 
will be filled by the former PCSOs.

How will this new operation be monitored?
Performance will be measured on a monthly basis.

Parish Councils were not in favour of the tabulations they received for crimes 
committed in the whole of the Breckland area. 
Unfortunately, creating a report for every single Parish Council is not a manageable 
task; however, there are about 10 clusters within a Ward and crime figures could 
be gathered from ‘Our Watch’ to reduce the information to street level for any 
incidents that would provide the Parish Council with a rough idea of what was 
happening in their Parish and in surrounding Parishes.

A query was raised in relation to the Speed Indicator Device (SAM 2) signs.
The Police Engagement Officer would be looking at what other Forces were doing 
nationally on these matters.

Concerns were raised in relation to the Police connection in schools.
This would be down to size and demographics and Police Cadets would be 
working in the schools as part of the Community Officer role.

How will a new Neighbourhood Watch scheme be set up?
Improvements to these schemes were being investigated.

Is there a software capability for people to type in a postcode to find out what is 
going on in their area?
There is such a capability in ‘Our Watch’.

Will the SNAP meetings continue?
Definitely will continue but will be enhanced and promoted.  

Low level anti-social behaviour is and continues to be one of the major issues in 
the Breckland area and Thetford had a very good PCSO who visited the town 
regularly providing names and locations – will this priceless information/hands on 
knowledge be lost?
Very keen not to lose this information, the PCSO’s have done a fantastic job, 
community intelligence is vital and the Police Engagement Officer and the 
Community Officer Group will continue this work.  Anti-social behaviour issues 
were recognised and the ‘Moonshot’ Teams have been put in place for growing 
criminality.  

7



Council
2 November 2017

4

Action 
By

It is a shame to remove the PCSO’s as prevention is absolutely key.  More PCs are 
welcomed but it is still less than the amount of PCs in Norfolk a few years ago.  
What mechanisms are going to be put in place to review these proposals and 
reassurance of how this will be monitored?
Policing has been cut but community policing is vital and it will be monitored and 
held to account by the PCC.  Whilst these numbers are being put in place, 
community issues will still be dealt with.  

Councillor Jermy suggested that the Thetford Stag, a local community magazine, 
would be a great focal point to report any issues.  

A copy of the presentation is attached for information.

149/17 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (AGENDA ITEM 5) 

The Chairman welcomed the newest Member, Councillor Mike Brindle, to his first 
Council meeting.

The Chairman’s Appointments had been attached to the agenda and she referred 
to October as a very quiet month although she had enjoyed the events she 
attended.

Referring to her Winter Wonderland Ball on 17 November 2017, she was pleased 
to announce that the price of the tickets had been reduced following a better deal 
being secured with the venue concerned.  Everyone was encouraged to attend as 
it was going to be a great night and any raffle prizes would be gratefully received.

The Chairman reminded Members of the Growth & Commercialisation Directorate 
presentation that would be taking place immediately after the meeting.

150/17 LEADER'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (AGENDA ITEM 6) 

The Leader was pleased to announce that the Council had submitted a substantial 
bid for Housing Infrastructure funding launched by the Department of Communities 
and Local Government (DCLG) on 4th July 2017.  The funding was a £2.3bn 
programme aimed to assist with vital physical infrastructure projects in the 
Breckland area such as roads, power upgrades and other utilities to unlock the 
delivery of new housing.  He was keeping his fingers crossed for a successful bid.  
District Councils could bid for money aimed at schemes that could deliver in the 
short to medium term to a maximum value of £10m.  Working with Pigeon Ltd, 
Officers had submitted a funding bid which sought a £9.95m contribution to the 
delivery of power and water upgrades on the Thetford Sustainable Urban 
Extension (SUE).  Bid outcomes were expected to be announced in late 2017/early 
2018.

The Leader had met with the Norfolk County Council Leader together with the 
Chief Executive to discuss the market town initiatives and he was pleased to 
announce that three of Breckland’s market towns had been placed on the top of the 
list.

Finally, on the subject of street lighting, a report would be presented to Full Council 
as part of the budget setting process, to put some funding aside for maintenance 
costs/and or replacement costs.

Councillor Gilbert mentioned the street lights in Lovell Gardens in Watton that had 
been removed in January of this year; since then, there had been an increase in 

8



Council
2 November 2017

5

Action 
By

crime in the area and he had been asking for several months for a report on this 
matter.  A number of residents from Lovell Gardens were in attendance to hear the 
discussion.   The Leader assured the residents and the Ward Members that the 
street lights in Lovell Gardens would be prioritised.  The Executive Director of 
Place advised that a report would be submitted as part of the budget setting 
process towards the end of this year for the February 2018 Full Council meeting.  
Breckland Council was responsible for over 2,000 street lights across the District 
for which a full assessment had been undertaken but the focus would be on the 
lights in the most disrepair and priority replacement.  As far as Lovell Gardens was 
concerned the ‘stumps’ that remained were to enable replacement.

Councillor Jermy was pleased to hear the update on street lighting as many streets 
in Thetford were in complete darkness.  On the subject of replacements, he urged 
the Council to upgrade to LED lighting which, although more expensive, would 
save the Council a great deal of money over time. The Leader agreed as LED 
lights were much brighter which could lead to a lesser amount of street lights being 
required.

151/17 QUESTIONS ON NOTICE UNDER STANDING ORDER NO 6 (AGENDA ITEM 7) 

None.

152/17 QUESTIONS WITHOUT NOTICE UNDER STANDING ORDER NO 7 (AGENDA 
ITEM 8) 

Councillor Taylor asked the Leader a question about the caravans and the people 
living in them behind the Abbey Estate in Thetford.  He and a PCSO had recently 
been engaged with them but they had not responded in an appropriate manner.  
The Leader advised that any threatening behaviour should be reported to the 
Police.  A response from the owner of the land, to enable a resolution was awaited.

Councillor Martin did not want to ask a question of the Leader but wanted to make 
a comment on the sale of Victory Park in Attleborough and the valuable support the 
developers had received from Breckland Officers.  The Leader was pleased that a 
local development company was thriving. 

Councillor Clarke directed a question to the Leader.  The question related to what 
effect the proposed cuts by Norfolk County Council (NCC) would have on 
Breckland Council and if any impact assessment would be undertaken.  The 
Leader explained that engagement with NCC was on-going. 

Councillor Jermy directed a question to the Executive Member for 
Commercialisation.  He was pleased to have received his copy of the Council’s 
magazine ‘Transforming Breckland’ but wanted to know if there was any news on 
tenants for the empty units at Riverside in Thetford.  Members were informed that 
negotiations were on-going.

Councillor Brindle directed a question to the Executive Member for Place (Health 
Lead) about the Cottage Hospital in Thetford.  He knew that Breckland Council had 
produced a catalogue of buildings at risk but wanted some assurance that this 
iconic building would be restored in the most appropriate manner.  Members were 
informed that a written response would be provided.

Councillor Richmond asked the Leader about large land assets owned by NCC.  
The Executive Director of Commercialisation and S151 Officer explained that the 
Overview & Scrutiny Commission meeting that was taking place after Full Council 

9



Council
2 November 2017

6

Action 
By

would be discussing these matters.

Councillor Sharpe asked the Executive Member for Finance about whether the 
£950k towards better broadband had been spent.  Members were informed that 
NCC had not drawn down this money as yet.

153/17 MOTION RECEIVED UNDER STANDING ORDER NO. 8 (AGENDA ITEM 9) 

The following Motion had been submitted by Councillor Clarke.

“Breckland Council supports moves to remove the pay cap for public service 
workers. Council notes that these workers have had real term pay cuts due to pay 
settlements that have been significantly below inflation. Council calls upon the 
government to fully fund agreements made by pay review bodies and through 
negotiated agreements within the recognised collective bargaining system. 

Further, Breckland Council wilI:

1. Make representations to the LGA & Government to adequately fund all Local 
Government pay settlements.

2. Write to the Prime Minister and Chancellor to ask for the necessary funding of 
Local Government pay so that at least an increase at inflation levels can be 
offered”.

Councillor Clarke was pleased to propose the above Motion as Public Sector pay 
was very much in the public arena and he felt that the Government should be 
asked to relax the cap to prevent a poorer service being delivered.  An increase in 
pay would improve motivation and help to retain staff and he hoped that Members 
would reflect on the spirit of this Motion and support this proposal.  

Councillor Brindle seconded the Motion and pointed out that National Joint Council 
(NJC) basic pay had fallen by 21% in recent years and he felt that such a loss was 
unsustainable for those on lower salaries.   He pointed out that a greater number of 
people in employment were having to use Food Banks which he felt was very 
regrettable for hard working families and he hoped that Members would support 
this proposal.

The Leader agreed with the sentiment of the Motion but it was also important to 
balance this with efficient and affordable services.  On-going dialogue was being 
had through the East of England Local Government Association (EELGA) and 
onwards to the Local Government Association (LGA) in the national pay deal.  
Negotiations with Unison on the Council’s local scheme, the Performance Related 
Pay Scheme, continued. 

Members were asked to vote on the Motion. The Motion was lost by 37 votes to 4.  

The Motion was not carried.

154/17 CABINET MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 10) 

a) Investment Strategy (Minute No. 104/17)

RESOLVED that:

10



Council
2 November 2017

7

Action 
By

1. the Investment Strategy be approved;

2. balances of £2,500,000 to be made available for temporary 
investments of up to 3 years maximum;

3. £17,012 be re-allocated from the Community Projects Reserve to 
the Investment Fund for permanent use;

4. £250,000 be left in the Organisational Development Reserve for 
future projects and the remaining balance be re-allocated to the 
Investment Fund for permanent use; and

5. Members to note that the new balance on the Investment Fund 
would be £4,505K following these changes (subject to the final 
Organisational Development Reserve balance).

b) Review of Shared Management Agreement (Minute No. 105/17)

RESOLVED that the Memorandum of Agreement, as amended, be 
approved.

c) Mattishall Neighbourhood Plan – Making (Adoption) of the Mattishall 
Neighbourhood Plan (Minute No. 106/17)

This recommendation would be taken under Council Agenda item 18.

d) Review of Customer Services (Minute No. 116/17)

This recommendation would be taken under Council Agenda item 24.

e) Adoption

RESOLVED that the unconfirmed Minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 
17 October 2017 be adopted.

155/17 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMISSION (AGENDA ITEM 11) 

(a) 14 September 2017  

1. Unreasonably Persistent Complaints and Customer Behaviour and 
Vexatious Requests (Minute No. 79/17)

Councillor Dimoglou drew attention to the wording on page 32, paragraph 
7, second sentence.  He felt that the wording was incorrect and should be 
changed to read: the Policy was far too complex and was weighted too 
much against the subject of the vexatious complaint.

2. Adoption

RESOLVED that subject to the aforementioned amendment, the 
unconfirmed Minutes of the Overview & Scrutiny Commission meeting 
held on 14 September 2017 be adopted.

(b) 3 October 2017 (Special Meeting)  

1. Capita Breckland Partnership – Contract Review (Minute No. 90/17)

11



Council
2 November 2017

8

Action 
By

Councillor Gilbert drew attention to page 37 in relation to the meaning of 
the 82% of Building Control Market Share.  Councillor Gould explained 
that Capita was achieving 82% of all building control applications across 
the Breckland area.

Councillor Gilbert also asked about Capita utilising staff from elsewhere in 
the Country.  The Executive Member for Finance raised a point of order 
as only the veracity of the Minutes should be discussed; the said 
Councillor would have had the opportunity to attend the Overview & 
Scrutiny Commission meeting to debate these particular matters.  

2. Adoption

RESOLVED that subject to Councillor Bambridge being added to the list 
of attendees, the unconfirmed Minutes of the Special meeting of the 
Overview & Scrutiny Commission be adopted.

156/17 PLANNING COMMITTEE (AGENDA ITEM 12) 

RESOLVED that the confirmed Minutes of the Planning Committee meeting held 
on 25 September 2017 be adopted.

157/17 GOVERNANCE & AUDIT COMMITTEE (AGENDA ITEM 13) 

RESOLVED that subject to apologies for absence being recorded for Councillor 
Linda Monument and Councillor Paul Hewett, the Minutes of the Governance & 
Audit Committee meeting held on 29 September 2017 be adopted.

158/17 REVIEW OF POLITICAL BALANCE (AGENDA ITEM 14) 

The Executive Manager for Governance presented the report that invited Members 
to review the political balance of various committees in accordance with statutory 
requirements.  The change was as a result of the Thetford Priory Bi-Election on 28 
September 2017.

A change to the Licensing Committee and Committee of the Licensing Authority 
was required.

Councillor Jermy proposed that Councillor Brindle be appointed to the Licensing 
Committee and Committee of the Licensing Authority.

RESOLVED that:

 the revised Membership of the Committees be approved in 
accordance with the report.

 Councillor Brindle be appointed to the Licensing 
Committee/Committee of the Licensing Authority, in accordance with 
the Political Group Regulations.

159/17 TEMPORARY APPOINTMENT OF MEMBERS OF PARISH COUNCILS 
(AGENDA ITEM 15) 

The Executive Manager for Governance presented the report.

12



Council
2 November 2017

9

Action 
By

Where a Parish Council becomes inquorate, Section 91 of the Local Government 
Act 1972 allowed the District Council to appoint a sufficient number of District 
Councillors to a Parish Council, on a temporary basis, to enable the work of the 
Parish Council to continue until it had co-opted or elected sufficient Councillors to 
be quorate.

Members were informed of the situation that had arisen in Mileham Parish Council. 
The Returning Officer for Breckland Council had used her emergency powers and 
authorise a Section 91 Order to appoint Trevor Carter to Mileham Parish Council in 
accordance with the Constitution.  

To avoid the use of emergency powers in the future, it was

RESOLVED that delegated authority be given to the Returning Officer to make 
Orders under Section 91(1) of the Local Government Act 1972 appointing District 
Members temporarily to Parish Councils as required.

160/17 COMMUNITY GOVERNANCE REVIEWS (AGENDA ITEM 16) 

The Deputy Leader and Executive Member for Strategy, Governance & 
Transformation presented the report that asked Members to consider requests 
from the Parish Councils of Carbooke, Great Ellingham and Thetford Town Council 
to carry out Community Governance Reviews. 

Members were informed that the Local Government and Public Involvement in 
Health Act 2007 (LGPIH) allowed principal councils to undertake Community 
Governance Reviews in their District.  

Attention was drawn to sections 1.4 to 1.6 of the report where the reason for each 
proposed review was highlighted.  A cross-party Working Group would carry out 
the reviews and report back to Full Council – the final decision was reserved to 
Council.

Six Members had put their names forward to serve on the Working Group, 
comprising four Conservative Members, one UKIP Member and one Independent 
Member.

Councillor Jermy was very disappointed with the list of names.

The Executive Manager for Governance advised that, under Political Group 
Regulations, the Conservative Group were entitled to five of the six seats.  The 
Council could appoint in different proportions to this, but only if no Members voted 
against.  

A vote was taken on the recommendations including the proposed membership.  
As   the Labour Group Members voted against the proposal, the Deputy Leader 
proposed that membership revert to that required under the Political Group 
Regulations.

RESOLVED that:

1) the requests from each of the respective Councils to carry out Community 
Governance Reviews be approved;

2) the creation of a Cross Party Community Governance Sub-Committee be 
approved, comprising:

13



Council
2 November 2017

10

Action 
By

 Councillor Sam Chapman-Allen
 Councillor Gould
 Councillor Theresa Hewett
 Councillor Jennifer Hollis
 Councillor Mike Nairn; and
 Councillor Mark Robinson

3) the delegation of powers to the Cross Party Community Governance Sub-
Committee to set the Terms of Reference for each review and undertake 
the review process be approved; and

4) the final decision on the outcomes of the Reviews be reserved to Full 
Council.

161/17 COMMUNITY HOUSING FUND (AGENDA ITEM 17) 

The Executive Member for Growth presented the report which asked Members to 
formally accept £181,690 of Department for Communities and Local Government 
(DCLG) funding in relation to the Community Housing Fund.

Use of the funding was explained and it was proposed that the recommendations 
be accepted.

Councillor Jermy was aware that housing was a big issue in Breckland and 
expressed his concern that Breckland Council’s role was not diminished as a result 
of the proposals, and that the funding was used appropriately. He hoped that a 
needs base approach would be undertaken and fed into the process which would 
be beneficial for all involved.

RESOLVED that:

1) the sum of £181,690 in grant funding from the Department for Communities 
and Local Government, awarded under the Community Housing Fund, be 
accepted;

2) the proposed use of an element of this funding to contribute to the cost of 
the post of a Community Housing Delivery Officer, to work across three 
neighbouring authorities to support groups with ambitions to deliver 
community led housing, be approved; and

3) the Council enters into a S.113 Agreement (shared services agreement) 
concerning the arrangement relating to recommendation 2 above.

162/17 MATTISHALL NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN - MAKING (ADOPTION) OF THE 
MATTISHALL NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN (AGENDA ITEM 18) 

The Executive Member for Growth presented report.  

Mattishall would be the second community in Breckland to have a Neighbourhood 
Plan and the Executive Member congratulated the Parish in getting this far and 
commended it to Council for formal adoption.

The Executive Member for Place (Health Lead) who was also a Ward Member for 
Mattishall echoed the above comments.  Mattishall had started this journey in 2014 

14



Council
2 November 2017

11

Action 
By

and the amount of work that had gone into it must be commended and he 
congratulated those residents involved in the Working Group.

The Chairman also congratulated the residents of Mattishall.

Following a unanimous vote for approval, it was:

RESOLVED that:

1) the Mattishall neighbourhood Plan, as written at the time of the 
Referendum, be “made” and confirmed as part of the statutory 
Development Plan for Breckland Council, as required by paragraph (4)(a) of 
Section 38A of the Town and Country Planning Act;

2) this decision, as required by paragraph (9) of Section 38A of the Town and 
Country Planning Act, be published;

3) Mattishall Parish Council and any other prescribed persons be advised 
about this decision, to meet the requirements of paragraph (10) of Section 
38A of the Town and Country Planning Act; and

4) the Breckland District Policies Map be amended to meet the requirements 
of paragraph 9 of the Town and Country (Local Planning) (England) 
Regulations 2012.

163/17 PARKWOOD LEISURE ANNUAL REPORT 2016-17 (PRESENTATION) 
(AGENDA ITEM 19) 

The Executive Member for Place (Health Lead) introduced the Parkwood Leisure 
representatives to the Council.  This, he felt was a good news story and he hoped 
that Members would welcome this presentation.

The presentation provided Members with a detailed overview of the organisation 
that predominantly covered the Annual Services Period from 1st April 2016 to 31st 
March 2017 (Year 10).

Usage had increased by 14% at both of the Leisure Centres in Dereham and 
Thetford and over 734,000 users had visited the Centres during the annual 
services period.

Health and safety management was the Company’s number one priority and the 
number of incidents recorded was below the benchmark set.

In relation to energy management, an additional Combined Heat and Power Unit 
had been installed at both Breckland Leisure Centres and the cost of electric and 
gas had decreased.

In Thetford, a new gym had been developed as well as a new parking layout and 
the installation of efficient boiler systems.

The many activity programmes including the pricing policy were highlighted and, to 
name but a few, this included the very popular 15 swims for £15.00 for the over 
65s, the Grandparent Swimming project as well as the carers Membership project - 
the latter two being new initiatives that had been introduced in 2016/17.

Customer satisfaction levels overall remained high and showed further 

15



Council
2 November 2017

12

Action 
By

improvement compared to the previous year with 94% reporting very satisfied or 
fairly satisfied for Dereham and 93% in Thetford.

The Executive Member for Growth asked if Parkwood still continued with the 
disabled Olympics.  Members were informed that such an event remained part of 
the programme as both centres were very accessible.

In response to a question, it was confirmed that the Grandparent Free Swim was 
available at both sites.

The Chairman thanked the representatives for attending the meeting and providing 
Members with a comprehensive presentation.

A copy of the presentation is attached for information.

164/17 NOMINATIONS FOR COMMITTEE AND OTHER SEATS (AGENDA ITEM 20) 

RESOLVED that:

a) Licensing Committee/Committee of the Licensing Authority

Councillor Brame be replaced by Councillor Brindle

b) Planning Committee – substitute 

Councillor Gilbert be replaced by Councillor Brindle 

165/17 AMENDMENTS TO THE CONSTITUTION (IF ANY) (AGENDA ITEM 21) 

None.

166/17 ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE URGENT 
(AGENDA ITEM 22) 

None.

167/17 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC (AGENDA ITEM 23) 

RESOLVED that under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the 
press and the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in paragraphs 1, 2 and 3 and 4 of Schedule 12A to the Act.

168/17 CUSTOMER SERVICES REVIEW (AGENDA ITEM 24) 

The Executive Member for People & Information presented the report.

The purpose of the report was to consider proposals for a review of Customer 
Services.  The report had already been considered by Cabinet.

RESOLVED that the recommendations, so far as they are non-executive functions 
and as contained within the report, be approved.

169/17 HR SERVICE REVIEW (AGENDA ITEM 25) 

The Deputy Leader and Executive Member for Strategy, Governance & 

16



Council
2 November 2017

13

Action 
By

Transformation presented the report.

The purpose of the report was to consider proposals for a review of the Human 
Resources function.

The proposed Organisational Chart was highlighted and the new model would 
allow the Council to be agile, capable and resilient. Unison had been consulted.

RESOLVED that:

1) the Head of the Paid Service and/or the Executive Director for Strategy and 
Governance, in consultation with the Deputy Leader of the Council and 
Executive Member for Strategy, Governance and Transformation be 
authorised to implement the proposals subject to no major change; and
 

2) the Head of the Paid Service and/or the Executive Director for Strategy and 
Governance, in consultation with the Deputy Leader of the Council and 
Executive Member for Strategy, Governance and Transformation be 
authorised to make minor amendments and redundancies as necessary. 

The proposed presentation by the Growth and Commercialisation Directorate was 
deferred to a future meeting of the Council.

The meeting closed at 12.45 pm

CHAIRMAN

17



Engagement List - Chairman

2 November – 6 December 2017

Date Event Host

4 November 2017 Pavilion Big Band Concert Chairman of Broadland District Council Cllr 
David Ward

12 November 2017 Remembrance Sunday Lord Mayor of Norwich Cllr David Fullman & 
Sheriff of Norwich David Walker

22 November 2017 Ely Thanksgiving Eve Service Colonel L Pettus & Colonel Christopher R 
Amrhein

24 November 2017 White Ribbon Campaign The Domestic Abuse Champions at 
Breckland Council

18

A
genda Item

 4



Engagement List - Vice-Chairman

2 November – 6 December 2017

Date Event Host

1 December 2017 Yuletide Reception Colonel Christopher Amrhein, Colonel 
Matthew Smith & Colonel Evan Pettus

19



BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

PLANNING COMMITTEE

Held on Monday, 23 October 2017 at 9.30 am in
Anglia Room, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

PRESENT
Mr N.C. Wilkin (Chairman)
Mr F.J. Sharpe (Vice-Chairman)
Mr R. F. W. Brame
Mr H. E. J. Clarke
Mr P.J. Duigan
Mrs J. Hollis

Mr A.P. Joel
Mr K. Martin
Mr P S Wilkinson
Mr P. R. W. Darby (Substitute Member)
Mr W. R. J. Richmond (Substitute Member)

Also Present
Mr A.C. Stasiak
Mr S.G. Bambridge

Mr J.P. Cowen (Ward Representative)
Mr T. J. Jermy (Ward Representative)

In Attendance
Michael Horn Solicitor to the Council
Alex Chrusciak Director of Planning and Building Control*
Debi Sherman Principal DM Planner*
Hugh Coggles Tree & Countryside Officer*
Julie Britton Democratic Services Officer

 * Capita for Breckland Council

Action By
108/17 MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 1) 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 25 September 2017 were confirmed as a 
correct record and signed by the Chairman.

109/17 APOLOGIES & SUBSTITUTES (AGENDA ITEM 2) 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Bowes, Marion Chapman-
Allen and Nairn.

Substitutes in attendance were Councillors Darby and William Richmond.

110/17 DECLARATION OF INTEREST AND OF REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED 
(AGENDA ITEM 3) 

Please refer to Minute Nos. 117/17 (a), (d) and (i) below.

111/17 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (AGENDA ITEM 4) 

Members were informed of the training session in relation to the Brownfield Land 
Register that would commence after the close of the Planning Committee.  All 
Members had been invited.

112/17 REQUESTS TO DEFER APPLICATIONS INCLUDED IN THIS AGENDA 
(AGENDA ITEM 5) 

None.

20

Agenda Item 8



Planning Committee
23 October 2017

Action By

113/17 URGENT BUSINESS (AGENDA ITEM 6) 

The Solicitor to the Council asked Members to give Officers delegated authority 
formally to revoke a planning permission that had been approved at the Planning 
Committee meeting held on 3 April 2017 for Wensum Valley Hotel, Golf & 
Country Club in respect of Billingford Lakes, Elmham Road (Planning Ref. No. 
3PL/2016/0533/H). The planning permission had been issued on 3 October 2017; 
however, just 3 days later, the Council had received a Pre-Action Protocol Letter 
from Richard Buxton Environmental & Public Law complaining about a number of 
legal issues in respect of that planning permission. The Pre-Action Protocol 
Letter requested the Council to consent to the proposed Claimant’s application 
for Judicial Review to quash the permission. The advice of senior Counsel had 
since been obtained and his advice was that, whilst the permission was most 
certainly legally defendable, overall, he thought that it would be a wiser course of 
action for the permission to be revoked and for the matter to be returned to the 
Planning Committee subsequent to revocation for Members’ reconsideration.  

Formal authority from Members was therefore requested to delegate powers to 
Officers to revoke the planning permission dated 3 October 2017 under the 
powers given to local planning authorities in Section 97 of the Town & Country 
Planning Act 1990. Should the revocation not be opposed by the affected parties, 
Members were also asked that Officers be given delegated authority to revoke 
the planning permission pursuant to Section 97 and Section 99 of the Town & 
Country Planning Act 1990.  It was noted that Section 99 dealt with revocation 
following no opposition by the occupier, landowner and affected parties. A 
Section 97 revocation required the formal confirmation of the Secretary of State. 

The reason for this being an Urgent Item was that an application for Judicial 
Review must be made within a six period from the date of issue of the relevant 
planning permission. If this matter had not been considered today, then the next 
meeting of Planning Committee was after this six week period. 

Councillor Duigan asked if the application would ultimately go to the Secretary of 
State for determination. Members were informed that if the permission was 
subsequently revoked, be that pursuant to Section 97, or Sections 97 and 99 of 
the Town & Country Planning Act 1990, then the application would be brought 
back to the Committee for redetermination.  Members were also informed that 
prior to the approval being given in April 2017, the Secretary of State had already 
considered whether or not to call this matter in, but had decided against doing so.

Members voted 9 x 1 in favour of revocation, and it was

RESOLVED that EITHER pursuant to Section 97 OR pursuant to Sections 97 
and 99 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990, delegated authority be given to 
Officers to revoke the planning permission dated 3 October 2017 (Ref No. 
3PL/2016/0533/H) and that the aforementioned application should thereafter be 
brought back to Committee for reconsideration.

114/17 LOCAL PLAN UPDATE (STANDING ITEM) (AGENDA ITEM 7) 

The Pre-submission Publication consultation had now closed and responses 
were being collated with a view to submission.

In response to a question, the Annual Monitoring Report would be presented to 
Cabinet on 28 November 2017.

21



Planning Committee
23 October 2017

Action By

115/17 DEFERRED APPLICATIONS (AGENDA ITEM 8) 

Noted.

116/17 TREE PRESERVATION ORDER NO. 8 - NECTON (AGENDA ITEM 9) 

RESOLVED that the objection to the serving of TPO 2017 No. 8 be determined 
as follows:

Necton: North Pickenham Road: Allow Tree Preservation Order (TPO) to lapse: 
Applicant: Mrs Knights & Mr Reid: Reference: TPO 2017 No. 8

Consideration was given to the report presented by Hugh Coggles, Tree & 
Countryside Officer (Capita).

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the report in light 
of prevailing policies and guidance.

Representations were made in respect of the report, in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings.  

Objector: Mrs Alexandra Matthews

Objector: Mr John Reid

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for deferral.

That the application be deferred, contrary to the Officer’s recommendation.

REASON(S):

 further information on the trees that were considered worthy of 
retention and those that were not; 

 the ownership of the trees in question;  and
 a programme of works from the Tree & Countryside Officer.

117/17 SCHEDULE OF PLANNING APPLICATIONS (AGENDA ITEM 10) 

RESOLVED that the applications be determined as follows:

a) Item 1: Thetford: Buildings behind No. 57, Bury Road: Conversion of 
existing barn to create on residential dwellings:  Applicant: Mr N Pettit: 
Reference: 3PL/2016/0596/F

Consideration was given to the report presented by Debi Sherman, 
Principal Development Management Planner (Capita).

Members had received direct representation to this application.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the 
application in light of prevailing policies and guidance.

A representation was made in respect of the application, in accordance 
with the Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee 
meetings:

22



Planning Committee
23 October 2017

Action By

Ward Representative: Councillor Terry Jermy

DECISION: Members voted 3 x 7 not to accept the Officer’s 
recommendation of approval.

Reason(s): on the grounds that the application was contrary to 
Policies DC1 and DC2; and on Highway safety: inadequate access, 
inadequate visibility splays and egress onto busy road.

DECISION: Members voted 7 - 3 for Refusal.

b) Item 2: Attleborough: Land north-west of Chapel Road School, 50 Chapel 
Road: Residential development of 10 dwellings, including improvement 
works to access road and adjacent pavements: Applicant: Breckland 
Bridge: Reference: 3PL/2017/0342/F

Consideration was given to the report presented by Debi Sherman, 
Principal Development Management Planner (Capita).

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the 
application in light of prevailing policies and guidance.

A representation was made in respect of the application, in accordance 
with the Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee 
meetings:

Objector: Thomas Pont

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as 
recommended; subject to, the conditions as listed in the report.

c) Item 3: Saham Toney: The Willows, Cley Lane: Residential development 
for 4 dwellings: Applicant: Clayland Estates Ltd: Reference: 
3PL/2017/0415/F

Consideration was given to the report presented by Debi Sherman, 
Principal Development Management Planner (Capita).

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the 
application in light of prevailing policies and guidance.

A representation was made in respect of the application, in accordance 
with the Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee 
meetings:

Applicant’s Agent: Clayland Architects

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as 
recommended; subject to, the conditions as listed in the report.

d) Item 4: Beeston: Adjacent Brookside, Syers Lane: Erection of two 
detached dwellings: Applicant: Mr Stephen Garner: Reference: 
3PL/2017/0702/O

Members had received direct representation to this application.  An email 
from the Ward Representative, Councillor Elizabeth Gould, who was 
against the application, was read aloud.

23



Planning Committee
23 October 2017

Action By

Consideration was given to the report presented by Debi Sherman, 
Principal Development Management Planner (Capita).

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the 
application in light of prevailing policies and guidance.

Representations were made in respect of the application, in accordance 
with the Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee 
meetings:

Objectors: Julian Farrall, Kim Bucher, Ian 
Craske, Justine Long and Samantha 
Craske

DECISION: Members voted 9 x 1 for approval as recommended; 
subject to, the conditions as listed in the report.

Following the decision and in response to a concern, the Solicitor to the 
Council advised the objectors that they would need to seek independent 
legal advice in relation to the ‘right of appeal’.

e) Item 5: Litcham: 8 Church Street: Erection of 3 dwellings: Applicant: 
Bespoke Norfolk Ltd: Reference: 3PL/2017/0854/D

An email from the Ward Representative, Councillor Elizabeth Gould, who 
was against the application, was read aloud.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Debi Sherman, 
Principal Development Management Planner (Capita).

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the 
application in light of prevailing policies and guidance.

Representations were made in respect of the application, in accordance 
with the Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee 
meetings:

Objectors: Mark Kiddle-Morris and Mr George 
Antonio

DECISION: Members voted 7 x 3 for approval as recommended; 
subject to, the conditions as listed in the report.

f) Item 6: Thetford: 57 Bury Road: Proposed alterations to the annexe 
attached to No. 57 Bury Road, Thetford (eaves to be raised by 525mm 
and roof pitch to rise from 35 degrees to 40 degrees): Applicant: Mr N 
Pettit: Reference: 3PL/2017/0942/HOU

Consideration was given to the report presented by Debi Sherman, 
Principal Development Management Planner (Capita).

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the 
application in light of prevailing policies and guidance.

No representations were made in respect of this application.

DECISION: Members voted 7 x 2 for approval as recommended; 
24



Planning Committee
23 October 2017

Action By

subject to, the conditions as listed in the report.

Councillor Darby abstained from voting on this application.

g) Item 7: Hockham: West Farm: Variation of conditions 1 & 4 to 
3PL/2013/0535/F: Applicant: Mr Alex Beard: Reference: 
3PL/2017/1092/VAR

Consideration was given to the report presented by Debi Sherman, 
Principal Development Management Planner (Capita).

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the 
application in light of prevailing policies and guidance.

Representations were made in respect of this application, in accordance 
with the Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee 
meetings:

Ward Representative: Councillor Philip Cowen

DECISION: Members voted 9 x 1 for deferral.

That the application be deferred, contrary to the Officer’s 
recommendation.

REASON(S): Members required further information in relation to the 
planning history of the site.

h) Item 8: Whissonsett: Land adjacent to Meadow House, Mill Lane: Erection 
of 1 No. self-build retirement dwelling: Applicant: Mr James Daniels: 
Reference: 3PL/2017/1108/O

Consideration was given to the report presented by Debi Sherman, 
Principal Development Management Planner (Capita).

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the 
application in light of prevailing policies and guidance.

Representations were made in respect of this application, in accordance 
with the Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee 
meetings:

Applicant’s Agent: Mr Gareth Watts

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as 
recommended; subject to, the conditions as listed in the report.

i) Item 9: Shropham: Greenacres, Watton Road: Construction of single 
detached dwelling: Applicant: Mr & Mrs Osborne: Reference: 
3PL/2017/1149/F

Councillor Joel declared an interest in this application by virtue of him 
being a friend of the applicant.  He remained in the room but did not 
participate or vote on the application.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Debi Sherman, 
Principal Development Management Planner (Capita).  It was noted that 

25



Planning Committee
23 October 2017

Action By

the recommendation on the supplementary agenda was incorrect. 

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the 
application in light of prevailing policies and guidance.

Representations were made in respect of this application, in accordance 
with the Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee 
meetings:

Ward Representative: Councillor Philip Cowen

Applicant: Mrs Osborne

Applicant’s Agent: Erica Whettingsteel

Parish Council: David Napier (Chairman of the 
Parish Council)

Objector: Charles Hawkins

DECISION: Members voted unanimously not to accept the Officer’s 
recommendation of refusal.

Reason(s): on the grounds that the application would make a small 
contribution to the Council’s 5 year housing land supply and 
supported Policy CP14.

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval.

118/17 APPLICATIONS DETERMINED BY THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF 
PLACE (AGENDA ITEM 11) 

Noted.

119/17 APPEALS SUMMARY (AGENDA ITEM 12) 

Noted.

The meeting closed at 12.45 pm

CHAIRMAN

26



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMISSION

Held on Thursday, 2 November 2017 at 2.00 pm in the
Anglia Room, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, Dereham

PRESENT
Councillor E. Gould (Chairman)
Mr D. R. R. Oliver (Vice-Chairman)
Mr P. M. M. Dimoglou
Mr T. J. Jermy
Mr A.P. Joel
Mr R.G. Kybird

Mrs S.M. Matthews
Mr T. F. C. Monument
Mr M. J. Nairn
Mr R. R. Richmond
Mr P S Wilkinson (Substitute Member)

Also Present
Mr S.G. Bambridge
Mr S H Chapman-Allen
Mr P.D. Claussen

Mr J.P. Cowen
Mrs J. Hollis
Mrs L.S. Turner

In Attendance
Ralph Burton - Strategic Property Manager (BDC)
Christine Marshall - Executive Director Commercialisation (S151 Officer)
Helen McAleer - PA to the Leader of the Council
Maxine O'Mahony - Executive Director of Strategy & Governance (Monitoring 

Officer)
Greg Pearson - Corporate Improvement and Performance Manager
Riana Rudland - Breckland Place Manager
Mark Stinson - Executive Manager Governance (Deputy Monitoring 

Officer)
Rob Walker - Executive Director Place

Action By
94/17 MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 1) 

 (a) Minutes of the meeting held on 14 September 2017  

Councillor Dimoglou requested a change to the wording of paragraph 7 on 
page 11. He had said that the Policy was weighted far too much against the 
subject of the vexatious complaint, not against the vexatious complainant.

Subject to that amendment the Minutes of the meeting held on 14 
September 2017 were confirmed as a correct record and signed by the 
Chairman.

 (b) Minutes of the Special Meeting held on 3 October 2017  

The Minutes of the Special meeting held on 3 October 2017 were confirmed 
as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.

95/17 APOLOGIES AND SUBSTITUTES (AGENDA ITEM 2) 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Brame and Crawford.  

Councillor Wilkinson was present as Substitute for Councillor Brame.

27

Agenda Item 9



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
2 November 2017

2

Action By
96/17 URGENT BUSINESS (AGENDA ITEM 3) 

None.

97/17 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS (AGENDA ITEM 4) 

No declarations were made.

98/17 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING (AGENDA ITEM 
5) 

Councillors Bambridge, S Chapman-Allen, Claussen, Cowen and Hollis were 
in attendance.

99/17 PRESENTATION BY THE CITIZEN'S ADVICE BUREAU (CAB) (AGENDA 
ITEM 6) 

Mel Jones, Bureau Manager, Citizens Advice Diss, Thetford & District gave a 
short presentation.  David Potten, acting Chief Executive and Mandy Lewis, 
Bureau Manager Mid Norfolk were in attendance to answer questions.

There were three bureaux in Norfolk and in Breckland there were offices in 
Thetford, Dereham, Watton, Swaffham and Attleborough.  The bureau offered 
independent, unbiased advice and dealt with a range of problems including 
debt, housing, benefits and employment issues and also offered advice on 
relationship and legal issues.  Their main sources of funding were Norfolk 
County Council (NCC) and District Councils.

Details were given about the number of clients helped in the District and the 
number of issues addressed.  Issues were often inter-related such as the 
breakdown of relationships leading to homelessness, job loss, etc.  The 
reduction in the number of other charities offering help and also in the 
availability of legal aid had led to increased demand on the CAB.  They dealt 
with an increasing number of disabled clients.  

The introduction of Universal Credit in March 2018 in the District would bring 
more problems, and the CAB were preparing and training for that.  

Q: What problems was Universal Credit (UC) expected to bring?
A: The biggest issue was the six-week waiting time from first application until 
payment.  Private landlords could not wait that long for rent and evicted 
people.    People needed to be made aware that they could get advanced 
payments on their benefits (to be paid back over a six month period).  

Q: How were elderly people, who could not travel or use the internet, to 
engage with UC?  
A:  The effects of UC should be minimal on that age group.

Q: Where in the District was the grant money provided by the Council being 
spent and what was it being spent on? 
A: Information could be provided to Ward level.

Q: How often were the bureaux open?
A: Thetford 3 days a week but looking at a fourth day

Dereham 3 days a week
Watton one morning a week,

Rob 
Walker 

28



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
2 November 2017

3

Action By
Swaffham one day a week,
Attleborough two days a week.

It was noted that client numbers referred to new visits not repeat visitors.

Q: The towns were working towards being dementia friendly.  Were bureau 
staff dementia trained?
A: Staff were trained in mental health but not specifically about dementia.  
They would welcome dementia training if it was available.  

Q: There was often a mental health element to issues and the District was 
very poorly served by mental health teams.  How did the CAB overcome that?
A: The bureaux were seeing increasing numbers with mental health issues.  
Many clients were geographically isolated with no access to the internet.  
Transport was also a problem.  Sometimes mental health issues could be 
alleviated by good advice.

Q:  Did the ARP help the CAB?
A: It was very helpful to work in partnership with the ARP.  

Q: Does the CAB have access to the Council’s policies re Housing etc.
A:  Yes.

Q: The Dashboard information provided on the Agenda showed a large 
amount of contacts by letter/mail, but not e-mail.  Was that correct?
A: The figures included letters written by the bureaux on behalf of clients. 

Q: The number of clients in Dereham was as high as in Thetford which was 
the District’s area of most serious deprivation.  What was causing the 
increase in Dereham numbers?
A: The numbers had been on a par for some time, but Dereham was getting 
busier.  The increase might be linked to the migrant community spreading out.  
In Thetford it was a struggle to get volunteers.  Dereham was able to deal with 
10 times the number of calls partly because it had more volunteers.

Q: Do clients get referred to the CAB by other third party agencies?
A: Yes, people were often signposted to the CAB when their cases were 
complex or the third party agency and the client were not in agreement.

Q: Were interpreters available at the bureaux to help with the migrant 
population?
A: There were no bilingual volunteers in Thetford but staff had access to 
Language Line for interpreters. 

Q: What does each client cost the service?  That information would be useful 
to the Council when setting its budget.
A: Research done in 2012 showed the average cost per client was about £15.  
That had increased significantly due to the complexity of issues now.  A lot of 
volunteers were trained and then lost because the training made them 
employable and they moved on to engage in employed work.

Q: The lack of language speakers in Thetford was disappointing; there should 
be some dual language people available.
A: All advisors were volunteers and it was hard to get them in Thetford.  The 
CAB would welcome people with language skills.  They were working in 
partnership with Keystone and hoped to upskill some of their advisors.  

29



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
2 November 2017

4

Action By

Q:  How much pressure would it put the CAB under if your funding was cut?
A: We have moved premises to ensure we are as cheap as possible and we 
are working in partnership with Keystone.  If our funding was cut we would 
have to see less people.  We have made bids for other funding.  We are also 
dependent on donations and no amount is too small.  In Dereham there are 
only two paid staff in the bureau.  If funding was cut, paid staff would go and 
there would be no bureau.  

The Chairman explained that the Council was not looking to cut funding but it 
wanted to know how the money was used and whether there were other ways 
it could help.

It was noted that the migrant community in Thetford was more settled and 
helped themselves and helped each other to fill forms out, etc.  Self-help was 
welcomed, but there was concern that the support was not regulated and not 
independent and some people were being charged large amounts to fill in 
even basic forms.  

The CAB had worked with Keystone on the issue of advice sharks – people 
from the European communities operating in the cafes in the community and 
giving advice for money.  In some cases it had caused real issues.  

The CAB had previously had an agreement to provide general reception cover 
at Breckland House in Thetford in exchange for space in the building.  That 
agreement had expired and was one of the reasons that the CAB had moved 
premises. 

It was noted that Breckland House was run as a commercial tenanted 
building.

Q: Was the funding provided by the Council used for core funding or for 
projects?
A: The funding was needed for core costs.  Volunteers could not be employed 
without premises, telephony, etc.  The funding was also needed to pay the 
salaries of paid staff to supervise and ensure the safety of volunteers.  

Councillor Cowen explained that the Council was about to embark on budget 
setting and was looking internally and externally for savings.  The problem 
with funding the CAB was that it did not work solely within the Council’s 
boundaries.  If the Council gave money it wanted to be sure that it would be 
spent on Breckland residents.  Having a clear understanding of the costs of 
the offices in Breckland would help in making decisions.  

The Chairman asked Rob Walker to arrange a get-together meeting of CAB 
and Council officers to discuss funding and other ways that the Council could 
provide help.  She thanked the CAB representatives for their presentation.

100/17 THE BUDGET (AGENDA ITEM 7) 

Councillor Cowen, Executive Member for Finance gave a high level 
presentation on the budget process.  The Council’s remit was to provide 
services.  The challenge was how to reduce the cost of those services and to 
reduce reliance on RSG at the same time.

Members were shown a graph of income sources.  The largest sum was from 

30



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
2 November 2017

5

Action By
non-domestic rates.  The second highest income was from fees and charges 
(planning, etc) and Council Tax was third with rents providing the fourth 
largest amount.  

A further graph explained the breakdown of fees and charges.  Understanding 
where income came from helped with working out how to increase it and 
target resources.

An Increase in planning fees would lead to an expectation of a better service, 
so work would be done with Capita to enable the Council to generate more 
income and also a better quality planning service.  

The Council was entitled to take 100% of business rates for renewables such 
as the biomass power station at Snetterton which  should bring in £914,000 a 
year.  Necton sub-station was estimated to bring in £400,000.  The important 
message to Members was that planning policies were needed which would 
ensure that such applications were sited in acceptable places.

Members were advised that the Government could change the rules, so the 
Council should not be too reliant on income from Business Rates and 
renewables. 

The Star Chamber process had made clear that there was a finite element to 
making savings.  Resources needed to be managed in a better way.  Some 
services were presently gold standard and the question was should all 
services be one standard?  Members would need to make that decision.  

There were a number of planned projects going forward to help to address 
budget issues including the investment fund which had already been 
approved.  A key risk which was outside of the Council’s control was the 
County Council and Police budgets.  

The budget had a tight timeframe and officers were working hard to ensure 
the deadlines were met.

Councillor Oliver thought it would be helpful if both revenues and associated 
costs were shown, as that would help identify unprofitable services.  

The Chairman thanked the Executive Member for his update.

101/17 QUARTER 2 2017-18 PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW REPORT (AGENDA 
ITEM 8) 

The Deputy Leader and Executive Member for Strategy, Governance and 
Transformation presented the report which sought to address points raised 
previously. 

The key successes were increased garden waste and a small reduction in 
landfill and high occupancy levels of commercial units.

The red items in the report were explained:

 The call-abandonment rate in the table had been caused by an issue 
with staffing levels.  The figure had now dropped to 6% which was well 
below the target.  

Greg 
Pearson 

31



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
2 November 2017

6

Action By
 The length of the average call-wait time was due to the high volume of 

housing calls.  The CIP team were working with the Contact Centre 
and the Housing team to ascertain why there were increased levels.  
An explanation would be provided in the next report.

 The short term investment forecast indicated as red because it had not 
been budgeted for.  It was in fact a good news story as the Council 
had more money than expected.

 The HR team were monitoring the reasons for staff leaving.  In some 
cases it was due to fixed term contracts coming to an end.  

The Chairman asked why there were still ‘unknowns’ on page 37.

The CIP Manager explained that they referred to homelessness targets which 
were not listed in the report.  There was a system issue which meant the 
information could not be uploaded at the moment.  The figures were available 
and would be circulated to Members.  

Councillor Oliver noted that staff turn-over was not only caused by the ending 
of short term contracts and he asked if the Commission should be worried 
about the reasons staff were leaving.  He was advised that the HR Manager 
had not raised any concerns about the reasons given by those departing.

Councillor Matthews had experienced problems trying to contact staff in the 
Housing and Contact Centre teams.  She asked if there were problems with 
recruitment. 

The Executive Member advised that there had been two members of staff in 
the Contact Centre with long term sickness.  They were now on a phased 
return to work and two other posts, which had been left vacant during the 
service reviews, had now been filled.

Councillor Dimoglou asked if more could have been done with the Jaeger 
lease.  The Strategic Property Manager explained that due to the rules 
regarding companies in administration the best option had been to allow the 
lease to end otherwise the asset would have been in the hands of the 
administrators.

Councillor Oliver asked if temporary staff could be employed when high call 
volumes were expected by the Contact Centre.  That had been tried in the 
past, but the use of temporary staff had not been successful due to the level 
of training they required.

The Executive Member encouraged Members to use the Direct Dial numbers 
they had been given for Planning and Commercial.  Contact Centre calls 
sometimes dealt with complex issues which took longer to resolve.  He 
suggested that Members should sit in the Call Centre to see the work they 
did.

The Executive Director for Strategy and Governance explained that during the 
Contact Centre service review it had been prudent not to put people into long 
term contracts but now the review was complete that would change and it 
should help the situation.

The Chairman thanked the Executive Member for his report.  She asked 

32



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
2 November 2017

7

Action By
Members of the Commission to book appointments to visit the Contact Centre 
with the Executive Member and to copy her in on those requests. 

102/17 AMENDMENTS TO CONSTITUTION (AGENDA ITEM 9) 

The Executive Manager Governance, presented the report which provided 
additional information as requested at the last meeting.  

Two minor amendments to the Constitution were explained.  The two more 
significant changes were:

 Excluding Call-in.  It was noted that this had only happened once in 
the last five years.  When it was required it was done in an open and 
transparent way and reported to the next meeting of the Council.  To 
ensure Scrutiny engagement wherever possible it was proposed to 
introduce pre-decision scrutiny.  

Councillor Dimoglou asked why an Officer could approve the exclusion in 
urgent cases.  

Statute required the Constitution to have a provision to exclude key decisions 
in certain circumstances and in those cases an officer could make that 
decision.  Despite that provision, in actual fact the Chairman of the 
Commission was always consulted.

Councillor Oliver asked whether Devolution had been a key decision.  It was 
confirmed that it had been but the exclusion provision could not be used in 
that case because the decision had been on the Forward Plan for more than 
28 days.  The Chairman waiver had been used on that occasion.  

Councillor Oliver therefore considered that no amendment was needed.  
However, the Executive Manager said that it was always preferable to have 
something in the Constitution to use in case of a challenge.  At the moment 
there was no framework for a non-key decisions and the amendment would 
make it more open and transparent.  

RESOLVED TO RECOMMEND TO CABINET that:

1) The amendments detailed in Appendices A to F of the report be 
approved and the Constitution be amended accordingly; and

2) Membership of the Governance and Audit Committee at Para 3 
Section D1 (Delegations to Committees), which currently refers to 
“6 members and 2 substitutes politically balanced’ be amended to 
read 26 non-Cabinet members and 2 substitutes politically 
balanced”.

103/17 INVESTMENT & COMMERCIALISATION (AGENDA ITEM 10) 

The Executive Director Commercialisation gave a short presentation.

Members were advised that balances were reducing and it was necessary to 
be more careful with residual funds.  Members might want to consider 
borrowing but there was a cost to that and there were rules set out in 
legislation for Councils that borrowed.  They had to repay the principle and the 
interest.  The DCLG were getting concerned about some Councils that were 
pushing the boundaries (deferring repayments).  It was the Director’s job as 

33



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
2 November 2017

8

Action By
Section 151 Officer to be prudent and conservative and take risks in a 
balanced and proportionate way.

The Council had converted a lot of cash into assets.  If interest rates started to 
rise it might be better to have that money back as cash.  Councils could not 
secure debt against an asset; a loan had to be secured against the revenue 
account.  

The Strategic Property Manager discussed the difficult decisions about where 
to put money.  It was important to ensure that the investment portfolio was 
performing well.  As interest rates rose the gap between earnings from 
investments and what money would be realising in the bank, would get 
smaller.  A rationalisation exercise had been carried out on the portfolio to 
look at how assets were performing.  Any that were falling short of a particular 
yield would be considered for disposal and then that income could be 
reinvested in other assets with a higher return.

Currently the investment portfolio was realising a net yield of 7.3% which was 
quite good.  

Thresholds had been set for the poorer performing assets.  The wider factors 
of why they were being kept had been considered.  About 15 units were failing 
to meet  requirements and would be recommended to Cabinet for disposal.   If 
given approval the money would be reinvested in higher yielding assets.  

The Council’s other assets including community, land and operational would 
be reviewed in the same way.

The Executive Director would not recommend taking more risks.  The 
remaining cash flow was retracting and a lot of it was already committed.  If 
the remaining reserves were drawn together one large, or several small 
investments could be made.  Alternatively, the money could be used to invest 
in IT or revenue or purchasing vehicles for the waste contract to make 
revenue savings.   

The money lent to Breckland Bridge at a premium was achieving an extra 
income.  If interest rates continued to go up Members might wish to adjust the 
cash to asset ratio.  

There were different ways to invest in green energy and the Council could 
stimulate the market and enable others to invest without taking the risks itself, 
but it would still benefit from 100% business rates.  

If the Council moved to reliance on business rate income it might want to 
increase the General Fund balance to guard against possible appeals, etc.

The cash investment strategy was set out in regulation.  Specified 
investments had a high level of security.  Non-specified investments, such as 
Breckland Bridge, had much tighter controls.

The future reserve levels were shown in graph form.  Investments were 
generally performing well.

Councillor Oliver referred to the green investment proposal and suggested 
that the Council should form a land formation company; buy the land (any 
renewable project) employ a company with that specialism, act as a conduit, 

34



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
2 November 2017

9

Action By
get planning permission, get someone to build on the land, then sell to a 
company.  That would expedite green investment in the district and retain an 
on-going stream of income from Business Rates.  

Councillor Oliver made a formal proposal which was seconded by Councillor 
Jermy and supported unanimously.

RESOLVED TO RECOMMEND TO CABINET that they consider 
options to maximise the 100% allowance on renewables in the District.  

Councillor Dimoglou did not understand the public works loan board.  It was 
there to facilitate public works.  He felt that the Commission needed a 
presentation on that single issue to get a better idea of how to facilitate 
growth.  

The Chairman suggested that Councillor Dimoglou should Chair a Task & 
Finish Group with three other Members to look at the issues.  Councillor 
Kybird volunteered to serve on the Group.  Any non-Executive Member could 
serve on the Group and interested Members were asked to contact Councillor 
Dimoglou.

The Executive Director informed Members that Treasury Management 
specialists would be attending the Governance & Audit Committee meeting in 
December to explain the regulations.  The Members of the T&FG might find it 
useful to attend.

The Chairman thanked the Officers for their presentation.

104/17 PUBLIC TOILETS (AGENDA ITEM 11) 

On hold until more information available.

105/17 TASK AND FINISH GROUPS (AGENDA ITEM 12) 

Nothing to report.

106/17 OUTSIDE BODY FEEDBACK (AGENDA ITEM 13) 

Councillor Wilkinson informed the Commission that the first meeting to 
discuss Air Quality in Swaffham had taken place on 24 October.  A 20 point 
action plan had been drafted for discussion.  Swaffham Town Council had 
been briefed.  The next meeting would take place in November.  The Minutes 
and action plan from the first meeting would be included on the next O&SC 
agenda.

The Norfolk Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee had invited the 
ambulance service to attend to discuss triage, etc.  The CCG was looking at 
mental health budgets.

At present there was no progress to report on the Breckland YAB.

107/17 SCRUTINY CALL-INS (AGENDA ITEM 14) 

None.

35



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
2 November 2017

10

Action By
108/17 COUNCILLOR CALL FOR ACTION (AGENDA ITEM 15) 

None.

109/17 WORK PROGRAMME (AGENDA ITEM 16) 

The Executive Manager for Governance would attend the next meeting to 
discuss the Forward Plan.

The Serco presentation had been moved back to January.

The Internal Drainage Board would be invited to the next meeting.

Councillor Jermy noted that the next meeting would receive an update on the 
housing strategy and he suggested that the Allocations Policy should be 
looked at, at the same time.  The Chairman agreed and asked for it to be 
added to the work programme.

110/17 NEXT MEETING (AGENDA ITEM 17) 

The arrangements for the next meeting on 14 December 2017 at 2pm in the 
Anglia Room, were noted.

The meeting closed at 4.35 pm

CHAIRMAN

36



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Paul Claussen, Executive Member Place and Christine Marshall, Executive 
Director Commercialisation       

To: Full Council, 7 December 2017

(Author: Adrian Mills, Strategic Manager (Benefits) Anglia Revenues Partnership)

Subject: Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2018/19 review

Purpose: To consider options for a review of the Local Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme for 2018/19.

Recommendation(s): 

1)  That Full Council approves that the Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme (LCTRS) for 
2018/19 is revised with the proposals outlined at paragraphs 8.2 to 8.6 (as summarised at 
paragraph 10.2).

1. Purpose / Summary

1.1  Each year the Council is required to review its Local Council Tax Reduction Support Scheme 
(LCTRS). This report advises Council about the conclusion of the 2017 annual review, the 
resultant proposals previously agreed and the consultation exercise undertaken to revise the 
LCTRS scheme to take effect from 1 April 2018.

2. Key issues

2.1  We are now in the fifth year of LCTRS; a locally set scheme that replaced nationally set 
Council Tax Benefits (CTB) scheme from April 2013. This meant that Breckland had to 
decide upon a local means tested scheme to replace Council Tax Benefit for Working Age 
residents as the Government prescribe a national Scheme for Pensioners.

2.2 In 2013-14 the Council received a one-off Government grant that partly compensated for the 
reduction in Government funding that year. This meant that the maximum LCTRS awarded 
was the amount calculated, less 8.5% (Pensioners are protected by legislation and receive 
up to 100% LCTRS).

2.3 Since 2013/14 the Council has retained the same scheme, determining annually not to    
change the scheme. 

3 Introduction / Background.

3.1 The government replaced Council Tax Benefit with a LCTRS from the 1st April 2013. 

3.2 The aim of this change was 
 To transfer the system to local control
 To make savings
 To protect vulnerable people
 To support work incentives for claimants created by the Governments wider welfare 

reform.

37

Agenda Item 10



3.3 100% of Council Tax Benefit was funded through Benefit subsidy prior to April 2013 and the 
funding was based upon actual expenditure in a year. The funding of LCTRS was based 
upon 90% of the 2012/13 subsidy awards and does not vary if caseloads or expenditure rises 
in subsequent years. On the other hand if caseloads reduce then funding will not decrease in 
the year expenditure reduces.

3.4 Breckland made use of the new powers to increase council tax income and also passed 
some of the shortfall in LCTRS funding on to working age LCTRS recipients (pensioners 
were protected from any changes by the government) with the intention of making the 
scheme cost neutral to the Council.

3.5 Belatedly the Government offered a small amount of additional transitional funding to 
Councils who limited the reduction in LCTRS, when compared to Council Tax Benefit, to 
8.5% or less.

4.0 Current position.

4.1 Breckland Council developed a scheme that mirrored the previous Council Tax Benefit rules. 
The scheme pays maximum benefit of 91.5% for working age claimants, previously 100%, 
and otherwise is, in most areas, the same as the default prescribed LCTRS scheme applied 
to pensioners. It should be noted the old Council Tax Benefit scheme and rules complied 
with protections for vulnerable groups, including the disabled, to mitigate the effects of child 
poverty, duty to prevent homelessness as well as the Equality Duty (see Appendix B 
‘vulnerable People key Local Authority duties’).    

4.2 Breckland qualified for the additional funding detailed at 3.5 above in 2013/14, however the 
funding has not been offered again. Breckland protected War Pensioners and other 
payments within the Armed Forces Covenant from the reduction in maximum benefit and 
also removed Second Adult Rebate for working age claimants from our schemes.

5.0 Financial Impacts of the scheme in 2015/16 and 2016/17 

5.1 Appendix A to this report shows the collectible council tax for all cases that has at some point 
in the year received a discount. The debit shown in appendix A includes the whole amount 
charged for the year including the discounted periods.

5.2 Council Tax accounts where there has been a period of LCTRS awarded show a continuing 
decline in collection rates. As expected, collection has partly relied upon a significant 
increase in arrangements to deduct Council Tax from DWP Benefits. 

5.3  Breckland has seen a reduction in LCTRS caseload of approximately 5%. A very small 
number of LCTRS customers have also received Housing Benefit reductions attributed to the 
Welfare Reform changes since April 2013, namely the Spare Room Subsidy Restriction and 
the Benefit Cap, with little demand for Exceptional Hardship payments.  

6.0 Behavioural and Administrative impacts

6.1 The Councils aim in designing the scheme was to achieve a balance in charging an amount 
of council tax to encourage customers back in to work whilst setting the amount charged at 
an affordable and recoverable level. 

6.2 By setting the amount payable at 8.5% of the charge, in most cases, where a customer is not 
paying we can affect recovery through attachment to benefit within a year and so, the charge 
with costs is recoverable. If the amount payable was much higher then it is likely that debt 

38



would not be recoverable and there would be a danger of creating a culture of non-payment 
of council tax.

6.3 The Joseph Rowntree Trust have released data concerning Councils schemes where higher 
charges have been passed on to customers. This evidence suggests that volumes of calls, 
reminders and summons are still at the high levels and so the cost of recovery is higher and 
recovery in a year will become more difficult where customers default.

6.4 The New Policy Institute released a report highlighting that nationally Council Tax arrears 
have risen by 13%, particularly for Councils requiring customers to pay more than 8.5%, 
whilst Councils who retained a 100% scheme have seen a decrease in uncollected tax. (See 
Appendix C ‘Have cuts to Council Tax Support in England led to rising Council Tax arrears? 
And Appendix D ‘Key changes to council tax support in 2017.18 Joseph Rowntree report’.) 

7.0 Matters to consider

7.1 Councils are required to review their LCTRS schemes annually. Where it is determined to 
retain the existing scheme this must be decided by 28th February of the preceding year – the 
budget setting process provides for such a determination. 

7.2 Where Councils seek to amend their scheme it will be necessary to consult Preceptors and 
stakeholders prior to a consultation to inform final scheme design by 31st January of the 
preceding year.

7.3 Proposals for change were considered and determined by Informal Executive to inform public 
consultation questions. The results of which are included in this report to Full Council to 
consider final scheme revisions.      

8.0 Scheme review

8.1 Table B at Appendix A details options considered.

8.2 At the current time Benefit rates used in the Scheme have not been uprated in line with the 
Prescribed Scheme for Pensioners nor Housing Benefit since 2013. It is proposed that this is 
addressed, the cost to the District is small; it should be noted that Benefit rates only require 
uprating to 2015 rates, as Government determined to freeze rates at 2015 values in 2016 for 
four years. The cost of this change is set out in table B in Appendix A (line 1).

8.3 Harmonise the Scheme to the DWP Welfare Reforms introduced in Housing Benefit and 
Council Tax Support for Pensioners as applicable. These measures include restricting new 
claims to two children, removing the family premium and changes to the entitlement rules for 
persons from abroad. Due to the fluctuating nature and volume of these cases we cannot 
predict the impact although we believe it to be small. Such changes will align administration 
and enable a consistent customer service.

8.4 Introduce links to the award of Universal Credit (UC); the Council shall be in the UC Full 
Service from June 2018. The present scheme takes into account the award of UC in a similar 
way to other DWP Benefits. The proposal is to make LCTRS entitlement conditional upon UC 
entitlement, thereby removing the requirement to make a separate application. 

8.5 Those customers not claiming UC who are entitled to do so will be supported to make a 
claim. Customers not entitled to UC due to their financial circumstances will be in a similar 
position to existing customers whose income exceeds entitlement to LCTRS. Thus, the 
Council will continue to support customers in work on a low income using existing DWP 
calculation rates – the support will be tapered, eventually ceasing, once income exceeds 
DWP levels. 

39



8.6 It is proposed that Breckland Council determine additional classes of applicant who will not 
be required to satisfy the UC entitlement requirement, possibly but not exclusively; War 
Pensioners, customers receiving Armed Forces payments and customers in receipt of 
Industrial Injuries Disablement Benefit. It should be noted War Pensioner and War Widow 
allowances are fully disregarded as income when calculating Council Tax Support. 

9.0    Other options considered but discounted

9.1 Restricting maximum Council Tax band used to assess entitlement to Band D – effects a 
small number of customers relative to the gain for the Council. 

9.2 Restricting savings cap from £16,000 to £6,000 – effects a small number of customers some 
of whom are likely to requalify once their savings reduce.  

9.3 Increasing customer contribution rate to more than 8.5% – the possible increase in Council 
Tax collected for the Council is considered to be less than the additional costs of recovery 
(additional recovery staff, postage and enquiries to customer services), including the inability 
to recover the debt in year by deduction from DWP benefits. Such an approach will have a 
negative impact on Council Tax collection as detailed in the findings at Appendixes C & D. 

10.0  Reasons for recommendations

10.1 The options detailed above at para 8 above to inform public consultation. 

10.2 The recommendations are threefold; to align calculation rates to present levels, to harmonise 
to Government welfare reforms prevalent in Housing Benefit and Council Tax Support for 
Pensioners as applicable, and to prepare for the expansion of Universal Credit.

11.0 Expected benefits

11.1  Harmonisation to DWP benefit rates will ensure compatibility to Government set rates whilst 
providing fairness; complying with Welfare Reforms meets Government policy, whilst 
planning for Universal Credit will ease the application process and customer experience. It is 
expected these enhancements will simplify customer notifications and understanding, 
thereby reducing avoidable contact, whilst streamlining and reducing the administrative 
burden. Customer satisfaction accessing and using the service should improve.

12.0 Consultation exercise 

12.1 The consultation commenced 25th October 2017 and ran to the 22nd November, available on 
the Council’s website and by direct letter to the major Preceptors and stakeholders. The 
consultation was also discussed at a Benefits Stakeholder liaison meeting held by the Anglia 
Revenues Partnership at Thetford on the 27th October.

13.0 Consultation comments

13.1  There were no formal responses from residents or stakeholders, however, stakeholders at 
the liaison meeting stated they are familiar with the Government’s welfare reforms, as they 
are used to the concepts in Housing Benefit. There were no questions raised and they 
welcomed linking the award of Council Tax Support to Universal Credit, along with the 
removal of the requirement to make a separate claim.  
Norfolk County Council responded that they are supportive of the proposed changes, making 
a number of further suggestions, some of which have been discounted in table B at Appendix 
A. 

40



14.0 Options to consider

14.1  That the Council retains the existing scheme for the 2018/19 year.

14.2  That the Council implements the recommendations in this report to revise the scheme for the 
2018/19 year.

15.0 Recommendation

15.1 That Full Council agrees to implement the recommendations detailed at paragraph 8.2 to 8.6 
to revise the scheme for the 2018/19 year.

16.0 Implications

16.1   Risk

Please refer to the Appendices.

16.2 Financial

If risk is not managed and regularly reviewed then there can be significant financial risk 
where problems are not identified and dealt with.  

16.3 Legal

16.4 Equality and Diversity

The existing LCTRS scheme continues the DWP’s previous Council Tax Benefit scheme 
conventions established over many years, regarding protections for vulnerable groups, 
including children, the disabled and the Armed Forces. Therefore an Equality Impact 
Assessment (EIA) is not considered necessary.

17.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

17.1 All 

18.0  Acronyms 

CTB – Council Tax Benefit
    CTS – Council Tax Support
    DWP – Department for Work & Pensions
    LCTRS – Local Council Tax Support Reduction Support Scheme
    NCD – Net Collectible Debit

     UC – Universal Credit

Background papers:- See The Committee Report Guide for guidance on how to complete 
this section

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Adrian Mills (Benefits Strategic Manager, ARP)
Telephone Number: 01842 756491
Email: Adrian.mills@angliarevenues.gov.uk

Key Decision: Yes 

41

file://bcf01/Democratic%20Services/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc
file://bcf01/Democratic%20Services/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc


Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A – Council Tax collection and cost of scheme options
Appendix B – Vulnerable People key Local Authority duties’
Appendix C - Have cuts to Council Tax Support led to rising Council Tax arrears
Appendix D – Key changes to council tax support in 2017.18 Joseph Rowntree report.

42



Appendix A Breckland

Debit raised CTax 
collected

% 
collected

 Council 
Tax 

2015/16
£61,554,363

2016/17
£65,254,173

2015/16
£60,209,632

2016/17
£63,870,237

97.82

97.88

LCTRS 
awarded

2015/16
£7,493,169
Collected

85%

2016/17
£7,503,160
Collected 

83.8%

LCTRS
Caseload

April 2015
9,863

April 2016
9,269

April 2017
8,928

Table B

Estimated 
projections

Number 
of cases

County 
impact

Breckland Total DWP 
recovery 
possible 
in year?

Options Considered for Approval in this Report:
Retain 8.5% 
scheme & 
uprate 
calculation 
rates

All £4,141 £275 £5,376 Yes

Options Considered But Discounted:
Savings cap 
£6,000 from 
£16,000

54 (£24,458) (£1,622) (£31,751) n/a

Cap Council 
Tax 
assessments 
to Band D

40 (£12,500) (£829) (£16,228) n/a

Increase 
customer 
liability to 10%

All (£45,341) (£3,009) (£58,865) No

Increase 
customer 
liability to 
12.5%

All (£127,791) (£8,481) (£165,906) No

Increase 
customer 
liability to 15%

All (£210,202) (£13,950) (£272,896) No

NB: Positive amounts denote a cost & negative amounts denote a saving

43



February 2014 
Department for Communities and Local Government 

Localising Support for Council Tax 

Vulnerable people - key local authority duties 

44



 2 

© Crown copyright, 2014 

Copyright in the typographical arrangement rests with the Crown. 

 

You may re-use this information (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium, under the 
terms of the Open Government Licence. To view this licence, www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-
government-licence/ or write to the Information Policy Team, The National Archives, Kew, London TW9 4DU, 
or email: psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk. 

This document/publication is also available on our website at www.gov.uk/dclg 

If you have any enquiries regarding this document/publication, email contactus@communities.gov.uk or write 
to us at: 

Department for Communities and Local Government 
Eland House 
Bressenden Place 
London  
SW1E 5DU 
Telephone: 030 3444 0000  

For all our latest news and updates follow us on Twitter: https://twitter.com/CommunitiesUK  

February 2014 

ISBN: 978-1-4098-4129-6

45

http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/
http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/
mailto:psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk
http://www.gov.uk/dclg
mailto:contactus@communities.gsi.gov.uk
https://twitter.com/CommunitiesUK


 3 

Contents 

Chapter 1  Introduction 4 
Chapter 2  The public sector Equality Duty 5 
Chapter 3  Duty to mitigate the effects of child poverty 8 
Chapter 4  The Armed Forces covenant 11 
Chapter 5  Duty to prevent homelessness 12 
 

46



 4 

Chapter 1 
 
Introduction 
 
1.1 The Spending Review 2010 announced that support for council tax would be 

localised from 2013-14 and expenditure reduced by 10 per cent from the same 
date. The Government subsequently consulted on proposals for the localisation of 
council tax support in England, and the response to the output of that consultation 
was published in December 2012, alongside the introduction of the Local 
Government Finance Bill, which contains provisions to require local authorities to 
out in place their own localised council tax reduction systems from 1 April 2013.   

 
1.2 Localisation of council tax support is part of a wider set of reforms to the welfare 

system: improving the incentives to work and ensuring resources are used more 
effectively, so reducing worklessness and ending a culture of benefit dependency. 
Spending on council tax benefit doubled under the previous administration and in 
2011/12 gross expenditure was £4.2billion in England. Localising support for council 
tax is intended to deliver a 10% saving on forecast council tax benefit expenditure 
from 2013/14, and is an important contribution to the Government's vital programme 
of deficit reduction.  
   

1.3 The Government has been clear that, in developing local council tax reduction 
schemes, vulnerable groups should be protected.  The Government Response sets 
out the Government’s intention to put protection for applicants of state pension 
credit age on a statutory footing.   It confirmed that the Government did not intend 
to prescribe the protection that local authorities should provide for other vulnerable 
groups, but would consider what guidance was needed to ensure local authorities 
were able take into account existing duties in relation to vulnerable groups in 
designing their schemes.   

 
1.4 This guidance note is intended to address this requirement, helping practitioners to 

understand the statutory framework and develop approaches tailored to the needs 
of their particular communities. It covers the following duties cited in the 
Consultation Response:   

 
o the public sector Equality Duty (The Equality Act 2010); 
 
o the duty to mitigate effects of child poverty (The Child Poverty Act 2010); and 

 
o the duty to prevent homelessness (The Housing Act 1996). 

 
1.5  It does not tell local authorities what they must do in their schemes to be compliant 

with these duties, as this needs to be tailored to their own specific circumstances. 
 
 

 

47



 5 

Chapter 2 
 
The public sector Equality Duty 
 
2.1  Local authorities already have clearly defined responsibilities in relation to, and 

awareness of, those in the most vulnerable situations. The public sector Equality 
Duty is set out in Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010.1 

 
2.2 The Equality Act 2010 brought together all previous legislation in England Scotland 

and Wales, replacing separate duties relating to race, disability and gender equality. 
The Equality Duty came into force on 5 April 2011. It applies to local authorities and 
precepting authorities as set out in Schedule 19 of the Equality Act. Schedule 18 of 
the Equality Act sets out limited exceptions to the application of the general Equality 
Duty. For example, there are exceptions in relation to immigration and judicial 
functions.  

 
The Equality Duty 
 
2.3 The Equality Duty is intended to integrate consideration of equality and good 

relations into the day-to-day business of local authorities. In relation to making a 
localised council tax reduction scheme, this means that a local authority will need to 
consider how a scheme might affect people who share a relevant protected 
characteristic (defined in paragraph 2.6 below)  and people who do not share it.  
The Equality Duty has three aims. It requires public bodies to have due regard to 
the need to: 

 
o eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 

conduct prohibited by the Act; 
o advance equality of opportunity between people who share a relevant 

protected characteristic and those who do not; and 
o foster good relations between those who share a relevant protected 

characteristic and those who do not.2  
 
2.4 Local authorities will want to ensure that they have due regard to the Equality Duty 

in making local schemes. For example, when having due regard to the need to 
advance equality of opportunity between people who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and those who do not authorities are required have due regard to the 
need to: 

 
o remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by people due to their protected 

characteristics; and 

                                            
 
1 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/contents. 
2 See The Equality Act 2010, S149. 

48



 6 

o take steps to meet the differing needs of people with certain protected 
characteristics. 

 
2.5 The Act states that to have due regard to the need to take steps to meet different 

needs includes (among other things) taking steps to take account of protected 
characteristics, such as disabled people’s impairments. The Equality Act explains 
that compliance with the Equality Duty may involve treating some people more 
favourably than others.  

 
Relevant protected characteristics 
 
2.6 Relevant protected characteristics covered by the Equality Duty are: 
 

o age (including children and young people),  
o disability,  
o gender reassignment,  
o pregnancy and maternity,  
o race,  
o religion or belief,  
o sex and sexual orientation. 

 
In addition, public authorities in particular need to have due regard to the need to 
eliminate unlawful discrimination in relation to an individual’s marriage or civil 
partnership status.  

 
2.7 It may assist public authorities (including local authorities) to determine the 

relevance of the Equality Duty to their various functions in order to have due regard 
to the duty in the exercise of their functions. This is something that billing authorities 
may wish to consider in planning and developing their schemes.  

 
Requirements of the Equality Duty 
 
2.8 The Equality Duty is not prescriptive about the approach a public authority should 

take in order to comply with their legal obligations.  However, authorities do have to 
consciously think about the need to do the things set out in the three aims of 
Equality Duty as an integral part of their decision-making process, including in 
relation to the non-prescribed areas of localised council tax support schemes over 
which they have discretion.  A local authority will want to assure itself that it has 
sufficient information about the effects of the policy on the aims of the Equality Duty.  

 
2.9 Whilst the Equality Duty requires public authorities to consider the three aims it 

does not require them to achieve a particular outcome. Therefore, if a public 
authority is aware that a proposed policy may have an adverse impact on some 
people who share a relevant protected characteristic it should consider that impact 
and assess it against the wider case for pursuing the policy. If the public authority 
decides that the benefits of the policy are sufficient to outweigh the impact on those 
who share the protected characteristic, the ability to explain the justification for 
continuing with the policy will assist it to demonstrate that ‘due regard’ has been 
paid to the Equality Duty. It is good practice for decision-makers in public authorities 

49



 7 

to keep an adequate record showing that they have actually considered the Equality 
Duty and asked relevant questions.   

 
 
Welfare needs of disabled people  
 
2.11 The Equality Duty explicitly recognises that disabled people’s needs may be 

different from those of non-disabled people.  
 
2.12 Public bodies should, therefore, take account of disabled people’s disabilities when 

making decisions about policies or services.  This might mean making reasonable 
adjustments, or in some cases treating disabled people more favourably than non-
disabled people in order to meet their needs. 

 
2.13 In particular, local authorities will want to make sure that additional challenges faced 

by disabled people which may affect their income (and therefore capacity to pay 
council tax) are taken into account.  For example, this might be by recognising, in 
designing their schemes, limited ability to work or likely higher-level disability-
related living expenses.  Authorities will also need to consider the impact of their 
schemes on disabled people.  

 
Equality information and engagement 
 
2.14 Local authorities already hold a great deal of information about those with protected 

characteristics who are in receipt of council tax benefit. Local and national data may 
also be used to inform choices and decision-making. 

 
2.15 It is recommended that, in designing local schemes, authorities engage with 

representative groups/ people with different protected characteristics at an early 
stage.  Such engagement need not be onerous – authorities might engage with 
groups with whom they have existing contact, though less visible or new groups 
should also be considered. Engagement should be proportionate to the size and 
resources of the authority and impact of change being consulted on, particularly 
where this has a bearing on equality issues. 

 
2.16 Authorities should also make sure engagement methods take into account the 

needs of people with different protected characteristics. The Equality Act 2010 
requires public authorities to make reasonable adjustments for disabled people, 
including during engagement. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

50



 8 

Chapter 3  
 
Duty to mitigate the effects of child poverty 
 
3.1 The Child Poverty Act3 received Royal Assent on 25 March 2010.  Part Two sets 

out the local duties of the Act, requiring local authorities to co-operate with named 
partners4 to reduce and mitigate the effects of child poverty in their local area.   

 
 
Duties 
 
3.2 Specifically, the Child Poverty Act 2010 requires responsible local authorities and 

their named partner authorities to:  
 

o Co-operate: the Act places a duty on responsible local authorities (those with top-
tier functions) to put in place arrangements to work with partner authorities named 
in the Act to reduce, and mitigate the effects of, child poverty in their local area.  
The Act requires named partner authorities to co-operate with the local authority 
in these arrangements; 

 
o  Understand needs: the Act places a duty on responsible local authorities to 

prepare and publish a local child poverty needs assessment.  This will enable 
them to understand the characteristics of low income and disadvantaged families 
in their area, and the key drivers of poverty that must be addressed; and 

 
o  Develop and deliver a strategy: the Act requires responsible local authorities and 

partner authorities to prepare a joint child poverty strategy for their local area, 
which should set out the contribution that each partner authority will make, and 
address the issues raised in a needs assessment.  

 
 
Equality information and engagement 
 
3.3 Taken together, these duties mean that local authorities are likely to have assessed 

the extent and drivers of child poverty locally.  In many areas the local child poverty 
needs assessments and strategies have now been finalised.   

 

                                            
 
3 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/9/contents. 
4  The partner authorities in relation to a responsible local authority named in the Act are: (a) any district 
council which is not a responsible local authority; (b) a police authority; (c) a chief officer of police; (d) an 
Integrated Transport Authority for an integrated transport area in 
England; (e) Transport for London; (f) a Strategic Health Authority; (g) a Primary Care Trust; (h) a youth 
offending team established under section 39 of the Crime and 
Disorder Act 1998; (i) the Secretary of State in relation to his functions under: (a) section 2 of the 
Employment and Training Act 1973 (arrangements with respect to obtaining etc. employment or employees) 
and (b) his functions under Sections 2 and 3 of the Offender Management Act 2007 (responsibility for 
ensuring provision of probation services throughout England and Wales). 

51



 9 

3.4 Under the duty to co-operate to reduce and mitigate the effects of child poverty, 
authorities will be required to take into account their local child poverty needs 
assessment in designing and developing localised schemes.  Local authorities 
should be able to design localised council tax reduction schemes in a way that best 
suits local circumstances, tailored to what child poverty looks like in the local area. 

 
3.5 Authorities may wish to engage with partner organisations with whom they are 

already working in relation to their child poverty strategy in developing their local 
council tax reduction schemes. 

 
3.6 Authorities will also wish to have regard to the National Strategy for tackling child 

poverty under the Coalition Government: ‘A New Approach to Child Poverty: 
Tackling the Causes of Disadvantage and Transforming Families’ Lives’. The 
strategy focuses on a range of measures, including strengthening families, 
encouraging responsibility, promoting work, guaranteeing fairness and providing 
support to the most vulnerable: 

 
http://www.dwp.gov.uk/policy/child-poverty/. 
 

 
Child maintenance 
 
3.7 Child maintenance is money that the parent without the main day-to-day care of a 

child pays to the other parent.  It helps with a child’s everyday living costs, such as 
food and clothes as well as helping to provide a home for the child.   

 
3.8 The payment of child maintenance therefore helps to improve children’s life 

chances.  This includes making a contribution to lifting children out of poverty or 
preventing children from slipping into poverty by raising income levels in poor 
households.   
 

3.9 Children who have a positive relationship with both parents are more likely to do 
better at school, stay out of trouble, have higher levels of self-esteem and develop 
healthier relationships as an adult.  Working together to agree a child maintenance 
arrangement is one way in which parents can play an active and positive role in 
their child’s life.  

 
3.10 This is why it is important that separated parents are encouraged to set up child 

maintenance arrangements and as much child maintenance as possible reaches 
children’s households.  To help this happen, a full child maintenance disregard was 
introduced into the council tax benefit system (and other income-related benefits) in 
April 2010.  That meant that child maintenance payments were not counted as 
income when assessing eligibility for means-tested benefits, e.g. council tax benefit.  
It also meant that separated parents no longer had their benefits reduced in 
proportion to the amount of child maintenance they received. 
 

3.11 Authorities may wish to use their council tax reduction schemes to help encourage 
separated parents to make child maintenance arrangements and maximise the 
money reaching children. They could do this by fully disregarding child maintenance 
when assessing eligibility for their schemes.   

52

http://www.dwp.gov.uk/policy/child-poverty/


 10 

Further information 
 
3.12 Further information on the Child Poverty Act and duties of local authorities under 

this is available from the Child Poverty Unit. The Child Poverty Unit brings together 
officials from the Department for Work and Pensions, Her Majesty’s Treasury and 
the Department for Education:   

 
http://www.dwp.gov.uk/policy/child-poverty/ 
 
http://www.education.gov.uk/childrenandyoungpeople/families/childpoverty/a00666
10/support-to-meet-the-local-duties-of-the-child-poverty-act. 

  
 
 
 

53

http://www.dwp.gov.uk/policy/child-poverty/
http://www.education.gov.uk/childrenandyoungpeople/families/childpoverty/a0066610/support-to-meet-the-local-duties-of-the-child-poverty-act
http://www.education.gov.uk/childrenandyoungpeople/families/childpoverty/a0066610/support-to-meet-the-local-duties-of-the-child-poverty-act


 11 

Chapter 4 
 
The Armed Forces covenant 
 
4.1  The Armed Forces covenant, published in May 2011, exists to redress the 

disadvantages that the Armed Forces community faces in comparison to other 
citizens, and to recognise sacrifices made. In some cases this will require special 
consideration, especially for those who have given the most such as those who are 
injured, disabled and bereaved as a result of service. 

 
4.2 The covenant sets out an obligation the whole nation and State has towards those 

who have served their country in this way:   
 

http://www.mod.uk/NR/rdonlyres/4E9E2014-5CE6-43F2-AE28-
B6C5FA90B68F/0/Armed_Forces_Covenant.pdf. 

 
4.3 This is particularly relevant when considering how to treat compensation paid 

through the War Pensions Scheme and the Armed Forces Compensation Scheme 
(which pay compensation to those injured as a result of their service, as well as 
compensation to dependants of those who die as a result of service) in relation to 
design of schemes for council tax reductions. 

 
4.4 Under the existing Council Tax Benefit Regulations 2006, local authorities have 

been required to disregard the first £10 per week of War Pension Scheme and 
Armed Forces Compensation Scheme payments when assessing entitlement to 
council tax support.  In addition, local authorities have discretion to top-up the 
disregard to the full amount, and have been encouraged to do so in line with Armed 
Forces Covenant Principles – an option which is still open to them under the new 
system. 

 
 
Further information and engagement 
 
4.5 Further information on the Ministry of Defence compensation schemes is available 

at: http://www.mod.uk/AFCS. 
 
4.6 Billing authorities will want to engage at an early stage with representative 

individuals and groups in relation to service and ex-service personnel in their area 
in designing their schemes (see under the Equality Act). 

 

54

http://www.mod.uk/NR/rdonlyres/4E9E2014-5CE6-43F2-AE28-B6C5FA90B68F/0/Armed_Forces_Covenant.pdf
http://www.mod.uk/NR/rdonlyres/4E9E2014-5CE6-43F2-AE28-B6C5FA90B68F/0/Armed_Forces_Covenant.pdf


 12 

Chapter 5  
 
Duty to prevent homelessness 
 
5.1 Homelessness legislation, under Part 7 of the Housing Act 1996, provides a strong 

safety net for families with children and vulnerable people who become homeless 
through no fault of their own.  It provides a consistent, national statutory framework 
for the provision of homelessness assistance and prevention across England. 

 
5.2  Those households who find themselves homeless through no fault of their own and 

who are eligible and in priority need are owed the main homelessness duty. This is 
when authorities must ensure that suitable accommodation is made available.  
Local authorities also have other duties to offer advice and assistance to those at 
risk of homelessness.   

 
5.3 The Localism Act 2012 afforded authorities greater flexibility in how they fulfil the 

main homelessness duty, allowing them to make private rental sector offers without 
the applicant’s consent. 

 
5.4 Under the Housing Act, local authorities have a duty to formulate a Homelessness 

Strategy (S1 (1)), having conducted a homelessness review of the district.  
Therefore, to enable them to prevent homelessness and secure sufficient 
accommodation and support for those who have become (or are at risk of 
becoming) homeless, local authorities must understand who is homeless and who 
is vulnerable and at risk of becoming homeless.   

 
5.5 In considering how to promote their local reduction schemes, local authorities will 

want to consider how information about council tax reductions is made available to 
these households once they are secured accommodation. 

 
5.6 Taking into account the Equality Duty, local authorities will want to have regard to 

vulnerable individuals for whom the local authority secures accommodation, or who 
are at risk of becoming homeless – for example, young people or individuals 
suffering from mental illness.   

 
Further information and engagement 
 
5.7 Further information is available at:  

http://www.communities.gov.uk/housing/homelessness/ 
 
http://www.communities.gov.uk/documents/housing/pdf/152056.pdf 

 
Billing authorities are encouraged to engage with representative organisations or 
individuals and housing authorities in designing their schemes (see under the Equalities 
Act (2.15 – 2.17) 

55

http://www.communities.gov.uk/housing/homelessness/
http://www.communities.gov.uk/documents/housing/pdf/152056.pdf


 

1 
 

Have cuts to Council Tax Support in England led to 

rising council tax arrears? 

Carla Ayrton, November 2016 

Introduction and summary 

Council Tax arrears have risen in the years since the introduction of Council Tax 

Support (CTS), a local replacement for Council Tax Benefit (CTB) which tends to be 

less generous. This briefing paper looks at the relationship between the generosity of 

council tax support schemes and council tax arrears. 

Council tax arrears are becoming an increasingly significant pressure faced by low 

income families, as shown by recent research from Citizens Advice.1 For working-age 

adults in poverty it is the most common bill to fall behind with.2 The Council Tax 

collection rate for England fell in 2013/14 after the change from CTB to CTS and three 

years on has still not recovered.3 

When looking at the relationship between CTS and Council Tax arrears, we need to 

look at what has happened at the local level. CTB was administered nationally, 

whereas under CTS local authorities have been responsible for designing their own 

support schemes for working-age residents, in the context of reduced funding. 

Councils have changed their schemes in various ways, with previous NPI research on 

CTS schemes showing that the most common change to require all working-age CTS 

claimants to pay some of their Council Tax liability. This paper shows a clear trend 

between higher 'minimum payments' of this sort and larger increases in the amount of 

uncollected Council Tax. 

For many councils, lacking clarity about how else to fund CTS, there has been a sense 

of inevitability about the introduction of and increases to a minimum payment. But the 

relationship with arrears raises important questions about whether this is effective or 

fair. If it is too high it will increase the amounts of uncollected tax and the administration 

and court costs associated with recovering unpaid Council Tax. It can also push low 

income families into debt and is an additional financial pressure suffered by both in-

work and out-of-work families on a low income. 

                                            
1 Kelly, M. (2016) Catching up: Improving council tax arrears collection. Citizens Advice 
2 Tinson, A. et al. (2016) Monitoring poverty and social exclusion 2016. New Policy Institute 
3 Department for Communities and Local Government (2016) Table 2: Council Tax collection rates, 
2011-12 to 2015-16. Available at [https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/collection-rates-for-
council-tax-and-non-domestic-rates-in-england-2015-to-2016] 

56



 

2 
 

Background 

In 2013 CTB was abolished and replaced by CTS, a system whereby each local 

authority is free to introduce its own scheme for working-age adults. For the first year 

of the scheme the funding available from central government was decreased by 10% 

in comparison to the system of CTB which the government had funded in full. Since 

then, government funding for CTS has been incorporated into the general grant, which 

itself has been decreasing.  

By January each year local authorities decide how CTS will be administered in the 

following financial year. The most common measure has been to introduce a ‘minimum 

payment’ so that all working-age claimants are required to pay at least some Council 

Tax regardless of income, although many local authorities have also made other 

changes such as removing the second adult rebate.  

In practice this means that even those on the lowest incomes have to pay some 

Council Tax. In 2015/16, three years after the introduction of CTS, 2.3 million low-

income households faced higher Council Tax payments than they did before CTB was 

abolished, paying on average £167 in additional Council Tax per year. 

The extra pressures of CTS on household finances also need to be understood in the 

context of overall changes to people’s circumstances. Our research in 2015 

highlighted overlaps between cuts to CTS and the bedroom tax, with 270,000 families 

affected by both changes.4 

How Council Tax collection and arrears have changed 

Council Tax arrears occur when a resident falls behind with their council tax payments. 

The way that councils pursue missed payments varies from authority to authority. The 

standard procedure is for the council to send two reminders about unpaid council tax 

before embarking on further collection and enforcement strategies. This may include 

asking for the entire year’s liability to be paid in one instalment, making an application 

to the magistrate’s court for a liability order, or an attachment of earning or benefits 

(where the council collects council tax from the household’s income or benefits that 

the council itself administers). They may proceed with enforcement measures, such 

as debt collection by bailiffs. 

Council Tax collection and arrears in England 

Net collectible debit (NCD) is the income that local authorities would collect in each 

year if everyone liable for Council Tax paid it in full. The table below shows that since 

                                            
4 Aldridge, H. (2015) The overlaps between the bedroom tax and cuts to Council Tax Support. New 
Policy Institute 

57



 

3 
 

the introduction of CTS the estimated amount of NCD has been increasing. In 2015/16 

the NCD in England was £25.5 billion, an increase of £2.5 billion since 2012/13 the 

last year of CTB when it was £23.0 billion. This is likely to correspond both to cuts to 

CTS and to an expanding Council Tax base, including rising levels of employment. 

The total amount of arrears has also increased from £2.4 billion in 2012/13 to £2.7 

billion in 2015/16. Within arrears, court and administration costs have also increased 

from £210 million in 2012/13 to £280 million in 2015/16. Between 2012/13, the last 

year of CTB, and 2015/16 the net collectible debit (NCD) increased by 11%. In 

comparison, total arrears (excluding court and administration costs) and court and 

administration costs grew by 13% and 35% respectively.  

The collection rate is the actual amount collected expressed as a proportion of the 

NCD – the amount that is expected to be collected in Council Tax in the same year. In 

2013/14 the first year of CTS the in-year collection rate was 97.0% compared to 97.4% 

the previous year. This was only the second time since council tax was introduced in 

1993/94 that national collection rates have fallen compared with the previous year.5 

Table 1. Estimate of net collectible debit, total arrears, uncollected tax, court 

and admin cost and the collection rate from 2011/12 to 2015/16.  

  2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 

Estimate of NCD 

(£ billions) 
£22.7 £23.0 £24.1 £24.8 £25.5 

Total arrears relating 
to all years at the end 
of the year shown 

(£ billions) 

£2.4 £2.4 £2.5 £2.7 £2.7 

Amounts not 
collected in year 
shown – includes 
court and admin 
costs  

(£ millions) 

£700 £700 £840 £860 £850 

Court and admin cost 
included in total 
arrears 

(£ millions) 

£200 £210 £230 £270 £280 

Collection rate 

(per cent) 
97.3 97.4 97.0 97.0 97.1 

Source: Table 5: Council tax and non-domestic rates - amount collected in year in England: 2011-12 

to 2015-16 and Table 7: Council tax arrears and write-offs: 2011-12 to 2015-16, DCLG; the data is for 

England 

                                            
5 Ollerenshaw, E. (2016) Three Years On: An Independent Review of Local Council Tax Support 
Schemes. Department for Communities and Local Government 

58



 

4 
 

Council Tax collection and arrears at the local level 

Council Tax arrears and write-offs have not increased evenly across local authorities 

in England. One problem faced when looking comparatively at the relationship 

between local CTS schemes and changes in Council Tax arrears and collection rates 

is that the data on arrears and collection rates for working-age CTS claimants is not 

collected systematically and made available by the Department for Communities and 

Local Government. Nevertheless we can look at how arrears and collection rates for 

all residents have changed across local areas and how this corresponds to the 

variation in local CTS schemes. 

Figure 1 looks at uncollected tax in respect of that year of council tax (not including 

uncollected council tax from previous years) as a proportion of the tax which was 

expected to be collected – net collectible debit. In this way the size of the local authority 

and their council tax base has been controlled for. Some local authorities have a much 

larger amount of uncollected tax in absolute terms because they cover larger areas or 

have more households paying council tax and this has been taken into account. 

The bars are grouped according to the scheme adopted by each council in 2015/16, 

by whether they changed the scheme from CTB, whether they introduced a minimum 

payment and the size of the minimum payment if one had been introduced. 

59



 

5 
 

Figure 1. Proportion of local authorities that have seen an increase in 

uncollected tax in and 2015/16 when compared with 2012/13. 

  
Source: NPI analysis of collection rates and receipts of council tax and non-domestic rates in 

England, DCLG; the data is a comparison of 2015/16 with 2012/13. 

 

Although for every type of scheme, those with and without minimum payment, the 

proportion of councils with uncollected taxes has been falling since the first year of 

CTS. More than 60% of the 75 local authorities with no minimum payment have seen 

an increase in the collection rate whilst more than half of the 326 who have introduced 

a minimum payment have seen their collection rate decrease.  

Local authorities with the highest minimum payments have been the local authorities 

with the largest increases in uncollected Council Tax. In 2015/16 compared with 

2012/13 the last year of CTB, 14 out of the 42 (33%) councils who retained the full 

support of CTB saw a small increase in uncollected tax as a proportion of NCD of 

between 0 and 0.5 percentage points. The remaining 28 (67%) saw a decrease in 

uncollected Council Tax. Of the local authorities who increased their minimum 

payment by more than 20%, 4 out of 53 (8%) saw a fall in uncollected tax and 16 out 

of 53 (30%) saw a small increase of between 0 and 0.5 percentage points. The 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

Retained
CTB - 42
councils

Changed
CTB, no

minimum
payment -
33 councils

Less than
10%  - 57
councils

At least
10% less

than 20% -
65 councils

20% - 76
councils

Over 20% -
53 councils

Minimum payment

P
ro

p
o

rt
io

n
 o

f 
lo

ca
l a

u
th

o
ri

ti
es

 t
h

at
 h

av
e 

se
en

 a
n

 in
cr

ea
se

 
in

 u
n

co
lle

ct
ed

 C
o

u
n

ci
l T

ax
 (

p
e

r 
ce

n
t)

Increase of more than 1.5 percentage points
Increase of  1 to 1.5 percentage points
Increase of  0.5 to 1 percentage points
Increase of  0 to 0.5 percentage points

60



 

6 
 

remaining 33 of these local authorities (62%) saw larger increases in uncollected tax. 

9 out of 53 (17%) of them saw an increase of more than 1.5 percentage points.  

These increases may seem small but as the amount of Council Tax that should be 

collected each year is a large sum – £25.5 billion in 2015/16 – the actual amounts of 

uncollected tax are also substantial.  Figure 2 below takes into account the change in 

the council tax bases between the years to calculate the additional amounts of 

uncollected taxes in 2015/16 compared with 2012/13 the last year of CTB. It shows 

that local authorities with a 20% increase in minimum payment had an additional £27.7 

million in uncollected taxes in 2015/16 when compared with 2012/13. Local authorities 

with a minimum payment of more than 20% had an additional £45.0 million in 

uncollected taxes in 2015/16 when compared with 2012/13. In contrast, local 

authorities who retained CTB have seen a decrease of £10.6 million. 

Figure 2. Total additional uncollected tax including admin and court costs of 

local authorities in 2015/16 compared with relative costs in 2012/13. 

  

Source: NPI analysis of collection rates and receipts of council tax and non-domestic rates in 

England, DCLG; the data is a comparison of 2015/16 with 2012/13. 

 

-£20

-£10

£0

£10

£20

£30

£40

£50

Retained
CTB

Changed
CTB, no

minimum
payment

Less than
10%

At least
10% less
than 20%

20% Over 20%

Minimum payment

A
rr

e
as

 in
cl

u
d

in
g 

ad
m

in
 a

n
d

 c
o

u
rt

 
co

st
s 

b
y 

co
u

n
ci

l t
ax

 g
ro

u
p

 (
m

ill
io

n
s)

61



 

7 
 

Collection rates 

There are some patterns between the schemes that have been implemented in areas 

and overall council tax collection rates. 28 local authorities have collection rates that 

are below 95%. All of these local authorities apart from one have introduced a 

minimum payment and most of these have a minimum payment of 20% or more. The 

four local authorities with the lowest collection rates – lower than 92.5% – all have 

schemes where the minimum payment is at least 10%. These local authorities are in 

metropolitan areas that had some of the lowest collection rates in 2012/13 when the 

CTB was still in operation.  

Write-offs 

A local authority can choose to write-off debt that it thinks may not be recoverable. The 

relationship between write-offs and CTS schemes is not straightforward. There are 

likely to be many factors which affect how councils choose to administer their CTS 

schemes and councils find different ways to manage increasing non-payment and 

consequent arrears. For example some councils have hardship funds, although these 

are not always used effectively. Others put in place different collection and 

enforcement practices for CTS claimants in the first year of a departure from CTB, 

which may include writing off arrears. 

Conclusion 

The overall collection rate in England fell from 97.4% in 2012/13 to 97.0% when CTS 

was introduced in 2013/14. In 2015/16 after three years it has not yet recovered and 

remains at 97.1%. When looking more closely at individual councils, there is a clear 

trend where uncollected tax has increased most in areas where there has been a 

greater cut to support to working-age claimants, that is, those with the highest 

minimum payment. 

For councils facing significant budgetary pressures there is a balance to be struck 

between whether to introduce a minimum payment (or for that matter make other 

changes), the level at which the minimum payment is set, the effect on uncollected 

council tax, and debt collection and enforcement practices. As the minimum payment 

increases those on a low income will find it more and more difficult to pay and may 

end up in arrears incurring growing admin and court costs (for both the claimants 

and the local authority) as the local authority tries to recover what are sometimes 

smalls amount of Council Tax. A report by the Child Poverty Action Group (CPAG) 

and Z2K found that in London in 2015/16 there was a 51% increase compared with 

2014/15 of claimants being referred to bailiffs and an increase in the numbers of 

claimants being charged court costs and the total amount they were being charged 

62



 

8 
 

with.6 This process of Council Tax recovery can be extremely stressful for those 

subjected to it and can have a long term impact on a family’s well-being. In the same 

report CPAG and Z2K found that claimants were cutting back on essentials like food, 

clothing and heating or having to borrow money to avoid falling into arrears.7  

While there is scope for councils to share best practice in the areas of collection and 

enforcement, councils are aware that there is a point at which it is no longer 

productive to raise the minimum payment. A council with an already high minimum 

payment of 45% in 2016/17 is consulting on raising the minimum payment to 68% in 

2017/18 but has stated that this could ‘adversely impact collection rates’. Meanwhile, 

other councils have cited increasing arrears and court costs as reasons for reducing 

their minimum payment in the past two years, while others are currently consulting 

on this. 

About this project 

This project has been supported by the Joseph Rowntree Foundation.  

                                            
6 Ashton, S. et al. (2016) Still too Poor to Pay: Three Years of Localised Council Tax Support in 
London. Child Poverty Action Group and Z2K. 
7 Ibid. 
 

63



 

1 
 

Key changes to council tax support in 2017/18 

Carla Ayrton and Otis Long, April 2017 

Key points 

 Council tax support (CTS) gives low-income working-age families a 

discount on the amount of council tax they have to pay. So if CTS is 

cut, the result is a tax increase for those families affected. 

 74 councils changed their schemes in April 2017, which is a slight 

increase compared to the 66 councils who changed their scheme in 

April 2016 and an increase from the 50 who changed their scheme in 

April 2015. 

 There are now only 37 local authorities who have made no changes to 

their CTB schemes, and 277 out of 326 have cut the amount of CTS 

available to claimants by introducing a minimum payment or a band 

cap. The other 12 councils have made other changes such as 

removing the second adult rebate to their schemes. 

 This has created a great deal of variation across England. In some 

local authorities low-income households continue to be exempt from 

paying Council Tax whilst in others they are required pay up to 45% of 

their bill. 

 In the fifth year of local CTS, 2.0 million families have been adversely 

affected by the change from CTB. On average these families will have 

to pay £191 additional Council Tax in 2017/18 in comparison to what 

they would have paid under CTB 

 The most common financial impact of CTS changes on claimants in 

2017/18 was an additional £150 to £200 per year to pay in council tax 

than they would have under CTS. The number of CTS claimants 

paying £200 or more has increased to 825,000. 

Background 

April 2017 will be the fifth year since Council Tax Benefit (CTB) a national system of 

support for council tax bills, was localised and replaced by Council Tax Support 

(CTS). Since CTB was replaced by CTS in April 2013 councils have been able to 

devise their own schemes for working-age residents, although full protection for 

pensioners is still a requirement of each local scheme. They have been advised to 

64



 

2 
 

devise schemes that encourage work and which protect the vulnerable, but defining 

the vulnerable is at the discretion of each local authority.  

In the first year of CTS, 2013-14, the funding for CTS was cut by 10% when 

compared with the funding the councils had previously received for CTB. Now the 

funding for CTS has been incorporated into the yearly central government grant that 

each local authority receives which has been shrinking.  

Key changes to schemes in April 2017 

74 councils changed their schemes in April 2017, which is a slight increase 

compared to the 66 councils who changed their scheme in April 2016 and an 

increase from the 50 who changed their scheme in April 2015. This number does not 

count councils that have made changes mirroring those made to national benefit 

changes, such as introducing a Minimum income floor (MIF) for the self-employed or 

removing the Family Premium for new claimants.  

There are now only 37 local authorities who have made no change to their CTB 

schemes. 277 out of 326 councils have cut the amount of CTS available to claimants 

by introducing a minimum payment or a band cap. The other 12 councils have made 

other changes such as removing the second adult rebate to their schemes. 

Of the councils that changed their scheme for 2017-18, 40 introduced a “minimum 

payment” or changed the level at which their minimum payment was set. A minimum 

payment refers to a proportion of council tax liability that all working-age residents 

are required to pay, regardless of income. Among these 40 councils, 33 increased 

an existing minimum payment, 5 introduced one for the first time, and 2 reduced an 

existing minimum payment. This has created a great deal of variation across 

England. In some local authorities low-income households continue to be exempt 

from paying Council Tax whilst in other local authorities they are required pay up to 

45% of their bill. 

Other changes include the introduction of a band cap which involves limiting the 

amount of CTS received in higher value properties to the amount provided to those 

in lower value properties. The most common band cap applied is D.  In 2017/18, 15 

councils introduced a band cap and two councils changed existing caps.  15 councils 

reduced the savings limit over which one is no longer eligible for CTS (the majority 

from £16,000 to £6,000 but a few to £10,000 or £8,000). 16 councils reduced or 

abolished the second adult rebate, which is a reduction in council tax for sharing a 

home with someone who is not eligible to pay full council tax.   

65



 

3 
 

Impacts on claimants and trends since April 2013 

Figure1. Total Council Tax Support claimants and those affected each year by 

an increase or introduction of a “minimum payment” 

 

Source: NPI analysis of Freedom of Information requests to the 326 local authorities in England 

In the fifth year of local CTS, 2.0 million families have been adversely affected by the 

change from CTB. On average these families will have to pay £191 additional 

Council Tax in 2017/18 in comparison to what they would have paid under CTB. This 

is up from £145 in the first year of CTS, and up from £175 in 2016/17.1  

Many councils have made their schemes harsher by raising the minimum payment or 

changing the band cap, but in 2017/18 part of the increase in the amount that 

families will have to pay is due to an increase in the overall council tax rates. Out of 

326 local authorities 22 will keep council taxes are they are, one will decrease the 

rates and the remaining 303 will increase Council Tax rates. This is the first time 

since the end of CTB that there has been such a large and widespread increase in 

the amount of council tax that all residents will have to pay.  

Figure 1 shows that the total number of families affected has fallen slightly, as the 

number claiming CTS overall has fallen. This is partly as a result of changing 

circumstances, such as falling unemployment. It is important to note that some of the 

changes that councils have made such as the introduction of a minimum CTS award, 

a reduction in the savings limit or making claimants in certain bands ineligible for 

CTS, will cause people who were previously claiming CTB to have no CTS at all. 

These changes have contributed to the falling number of CTS claimants and 

                                            
1
 Note that these figures differ from estimates in previous years as the model used to produce them 

has been updated.  

0.0

0.5

1.0

1.5

2.0

2.5

3.0

3.5

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18T
o

ta
l 
n

u
m

b
e

r 
o

f 
C

T
S

 c
la

im
a

n
ts

 i
n

 E
n

g
la

n
d

 
(m

il
li

o
n

s
) 

CTB scheme retained Min payment introduced or increased Other or no change

66



 

4 
 

because they are not counted in the CTS claimant statistics their numbers and their 

average cut cannot be estimated and are excluded from the numbers above. This 

means the numbers affected are an underestimate.  

Figure 1 shows that 320,000 low income families will see their council tax payments 

increase substantially because they live in one of the 38 local authorities where a 

minimum payment is being increased or introduced. 44,000 live in an area where a 

minimum payment will be introduced for the first time. 

Figure 2. Additional council tax paid, compared to what would have been 

the case under Council Tax Benefit 

Source: NPI analysis of Freedom of Information requests to the 326 local authorities in England 

Local variations in schemes, as well as in council tax levels and the proportion in 

claimants in different council tax bands, means that the £191 average cut figure for 

2017/18 hides a great deal of variation, as Figure 2 shows. The range has existed 

each year, but the higher average reflects a shift towards harsher schemes.  

The most common financial impact of CTS changes on claimants in 2013/14 

(indicated by the tallest bar in the graph) was an additional £50 to £100 per year to 

pay in council tax than they would have under CTS; in 2017/18 this will be £150 to 

£200. Although the total number of CTS claimants fell the number of claimants 

paying £200 or more has increased to 825,000 in 2017/18 from 690,000 in 2016/17. 

Conclusion 

A large majority of councils have decided to raise their Council Tax for the year 

2017/18. Councils are struggling to provide their statutory services whilst the funding 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

Less than £50 £50 to £100 £100 to £150 £150 to £200 £200 to £250 £250 or more

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

fa
m

il
ie

s
 a

ff
e

c
te

d
 (

th
o

u
s

a
n

d
s

) 

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

67



 

5 
 

they receive from central government for these services continues to decrease. The 

funding for local CTS schemes has not been ring-fenced and is part of this 

decreasing pot of money. This means that councils may feel they have no choice but 

to pass on their funding cuts to the CTS scheme in comparison to the CTB scheme 

to their poorest residents rather than absorb them elsewhere in the budget. 

Claimants who have not seen an increase in their income or who have been affected 

by other cuts to the social security system will be forced to spend an increasing 

share of their reduced income on Council Tax. 

As previous research shows,2 there is a link between higher minimum payments and 

an increase in Council Tax arrears. As more councils move towards higher minimum 

payments, this experience suggests there may be an increase in arrears and admin 

and court costs for both claimants and local authorities. When considering schemes, 

councils should be mindful of this and of the cumulative negative impact that the 

CTS scheme may have on top of other policy changes that impact adversely on the 

poorest. 

About the project 

The Council Tax Support Update project provides the latest information and analysis 

on the changes to Council Tax Support. It details the key features of each Council 

Tax Support scheme across England alongside an analysis of the impacts of the 

reform. The information in this report is gathered from local authorities and other 

official sources by the New Policy Institute (NPI) or is NPI’s own analysis.  

Information on individual Council Tax Support schemes was collected via a 

combination of Freedom of Information requests, communications with local authority 

staff, and from local authority websites. Our assessment of the impacts of the reform 

is derived from a model which draws upon both the data collected directly from local 

authorities and data from the Department of Communities and Local Government 

and the Department for Work and Pensions. 

This project is funded by the Joseph Rowntree Foundation and the accompanying 

website which provides further analysis and more information about each scheme 

can be found at www.counciltaxsupport.org.  

We would also like to acknowledge the helpful discussions and support we have 

received from Policy in Practice and Entitled To, as well as ongoing support from 

Chris Goulden at the Joseph Rowntree Foundation.  

 

                                            
2
 Ayrton, C. (2016) Have cuts to Council Tax Support in England led to rising council tax arrears? New 

Policy Institute. 

68

http://www.jrf.org.uk/
http://www.counciltaxsupport.org/


BRECKLAND COUNCIL 

Report of: Mark Stinson - Executive Manager Governance 

To: Cabinet – 28 November 2017
Full Council – 7 December 2017

Subject: Constitution Amendments 

Purpose: To consider a number of amendments to the Constitution 

Recommendations: 

1) That the amendments detailed in Appendices A to F of this report be approved and 
the Constitution be amended accordingly; and 

2) That membership of the Governance and Audit Committee at Part 3 Section D1 
(Delegations to Committees), which currently refers to "6 members and 2 substitutes 
politically balanced", be amended to read "6 non-Cabinet members and 2 substitutes 
politically balanced".

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The Council's current Constitution was approved by full Council at its meeting on 21 
January 2016.

1.2 Under Article 14 of the Constitution any proposed changes may only be approved by full 
Council unless the change is: 

 A minor variation; or
 Is required to be made to remove any inconsistency or ambiguity; or 
 is required to be made so as to put into effect any decision of the Council or its committees 

or the Cabinet.

1.3 In such circumstances the change may be made by the Monitoring Officer and comes into 
force immediately, but must be reported to full Council as soon as reasonably possible.  
Any change then continues to have effect only if full Council agrees. 

1.4 There are a number of proposed changes to the Constitution, most of which are only minor.  
As none of the minor changes are considered to be urgent the Monitoring Officer has not 
made the changes under her delegated powers.  Rather, this report is to seek approval for 
the proposed minor, and other, changes.

1.5 The proposed amendments set out in this report were supported by the Overview and 
Scrutiny Commission at its meeting on 2 November 2017. The Commission had previously 
asked for further information on the role of the Commission and this is information is set out 
in paragraph 1.6 below.

1.6 The Overview and Scrutiny Commission’s remit is wide, cross-cutting, and derives from 
statute. A high level summary of the Commission’s role can be found in Part 2, Article 6 of 
the Constitution, and the detail of how the Commission operates can be found in Part 3 

69

Agenda Item 11



(delegations/terms of reference). The Commission has the power to review and scrutinise 
executive decisions through call-in (this is the mechanism for holding the executive to 
account – potentially requiring the reconsideration of executive decisions). The Commission 
also has the power to review any Council function and to report to the executive or the 
Council – this could be about developing policy or monitoring performance. The 
Commission can also consider any matter affecting the Council’s area or its inhabitants 
(which therefore allows the opportunity of external scrutiny). 

  
2.0 PROPOSED CHANGES 

2.1 Call-In 

2.1.1 Urgent executive decisions which are not key decisions 

(a) Executive decisions are decisions taken by: 

 the Leader, 
 the Cabinet, 
 a committee of the Cabinet, 
 a portfolio holder or 
 an officer under powers delegated by any of the above. 

(b) All executive decisions are subject to call-in.  This means that an executive decision 
cannot be implemented until formal notice of the decision has been published, and 5 
working days have expired during which period a ward representative, or 2 
members of the Overview and Scrutiny Commission, or any 3 members of the 
Council may formally request in writing that the decision be called-in for review.  If a 
decision is called-in the decision is initially reviewed by the Overview and Scrutiny 
Commission, who may refer the decision back to the decision maker(s), or (in 
certain circumstances) refer the decision to full Council, or take no further action. 

(c) Under Rules 12 and 13 of the Access to Information Procedure Rules set out at Part 
4D of the Constitution, the call-in procedure does not apply in two circumstances.  
These circumstances are explained in the following paragraph.

(d) An executive decision which is also a key decision (because it has a significant 
effect on two or more wards, or because of its financial value) cannot be made until 
formal notice that a key decision will be made has been published, and 28 days 
have elapsed since publication.  Where, for whatever reason, notice of a proposed 
key decision has not been published, but where the decision must be taken so 
urgently that there is insufficient time to wait the required 28 days, then there are 
two alternative procedures in Rules 12 and 13 of the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules.  Depending upon how urgent the decision is, one rule allows an 
Officer to approve the exclusion of call-in, the other rule requires the consent of the 
Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Commission.   

(e) There have been times when there has been a need to exclude call-in of decisions 
which are NOT key decisions.  On these occasions the Chairman of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Commission has determined whether or not to allow such exclusion.  It 
is therefore proposed that this process is formalised with clear procedures and 
appropriate checks and balances.  Exclusion of call-in in these circumstances will 
only be permitted where any delay likely to be caused by the call-in process would 
seriously prejudice the Council's or the public's interest.  Requirements of the 
process are proposed below:

70



 the Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Commission agreeing both that 
the decision proposed is reasonable in all the circumstances and to it being 
treated as a matter of urgency (in the absence of the Chairman, the Chairman 
of the Council or in his/her absence the Vice-Chairman of the Council's 
consent shall be required.  In the absence of all three, the Head of the Paid 
Service or his/her nominee's consent shall be required); and 

 the decision notice stating that the decision is not subject to call-in and the 
reasons why the delay caused by the call-in procedure is considered to be 
seriously detrimental to the Council's or the public's interest; and 

 a report being submitted to the next available meeting of full Council indicating 
the reasons for the urgency.  

(f) The proposed amendments to enable this additional procedure to be adopted are 
shown in full in appendix A to this report.  

2.1.2 The Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Commission already has the discretion to 
exclude call-in where s/he considers that it is reasonable to do so, but at present there is no 
formal framework within which this discretion is exercised. As such, the proposed change is 
designed to strengthen scrutiny by ensuring that any exclusion of scrutiny is transparent 
both in terms of the reasons for the exclusion and by subsequent reporting of the exclusion 
(by a report to the next Council meeting). The constitutional amendment will not make it 
easier to obtain an exclusion. 

2.1.3 Executive decisions which are subject to external deadlines 

(a) On occasions a situation may arise where a matter is not necessarily urgent, but is 
subject to deadlines imposed by external organisations which restrict the ability of 
the decision to be subject to call-in.  There was a recent example with the devolution 
decision.  The decision was a key decision (though it is not suggested that this 
process should be restricted to key decisions) and reference had been included in 
the forward plan, but the deadline was fixed by the government and certain 
information was not available to make the decision until close to that deadline 
(meaning that there was insufficient time to allow for call-in/scrutiny).  The 
Constitution did not allow for this scenario. 

(b) It is suggested in such circumstances that, rather than the decision being made and 
then being subject to a 5 day call-in period, and as a potential alternative to 
excluding scrutiny altogether, the proposed decision could instead be subject to pre-
decision scrutiny by the Overview and Scrutiny Commission.  Such scrutiny could, if 
need be, take place on the same day as (but before) the Executive decision is 
made.  This could only happen with the approval of the Chairman (or Vice-
Chairman) of the Overview and Scrutiny Commission, and it is suggested that the 
process should work in much the same way as a post-decision call-in so that:

 The Leader, Deputy Leader, relevant portfolio holder or (where the decision 
will be taken by an officer) the relevant officer should be in attendance at the 
meeting of the Commission to answer relevant questions

 The Overview and Scrutiny Commission should be required to set out in 
writing any concerns about the proposed decision 

 The decision-maker should then make the final decision taking into account 
any concerns raised by the Commission, and the final decision notice should 
explain the decision in relation to the concerns raised by the Commission

 The decision would take effect immediately the decision is made.

71



(c) It is not anticipated that this scenario will arise very often, but it provides an 
alternative process in the event of difficulties.

(d) The proposed amendments to enable this additional procedure to be adopted are 
also shown in full in appendix A to this report.  

2.1.4 Again, this proposed change is designed to strengthen scrutiny. Where in the past there 
has been no opportunity for scrutiny due to an external deadline (albeit that this is a very 
rare occurrence), the change will ensure that scrutiny can take place before the executive 
decision is effected. That will enable the Commission to ensure that its views are taken into 
account by the executive before the final decision is taken. It is important to note that the 
pre-scrutiny provision will only be available where the Council is subject to an external 
deadline which makes call-in impossible.

2.2 Membership of the Cabinet - Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Council 

2.2.1 A query has recently been raised about whether it is possible for the Chairman or Vice-
Chairman of the Council to be a member of the Cabinet.  The answer is that it is not 
possible, as this is specifically prevented by section 9C(4) of the Local Government Act 
2000 which states that "a local authority executive may not include the Chairman or Vice-
Chairman of the authority".

2.2.2 Whilst this is specifically stated in law, it is felt that it would be useful to include reference 
within the Constitution so as to reinforce and clarify the point.  The amendments at 
Appendix B of this report are therefore proposed. 

2.3 Standing Committees 

2.3.1 There are a number of references to "standing committees" within the Constitution.  It is 
recommended that a definition of "Standing Committee" be added to the Glossary of Terms 
at the front of the Constitution. 

2.3.5 Proposed amendments are shown at Appendix C to this report.

2.4 Performance of Executive Functions 

2.4.1 Whilst all executive decisions should normally only be taken if they fall within the Policy 
Framework and comply with the Budget, Standing Order no. 26 states as follows: 

"Urgent Action
26.1 Subject to the advice of the Chief Executive, the Monitoring Officer and the Section
151 Officer (or their representatives) the Cabinet can authorise action which either involves 
expenditure not wholly in accordance with the Budget or is contrary to the Policy 
Framework in accordance with the Finance Procedure Rules."

2.4.2 Part 3 Section D1 (General Provisions relating to Executive Powers) currently at page 39 of 
the Constitution, states as follows:

"3. Executive Functions may only be exercised if
(a) they fall within the Policy Framework and 
(b)  they are within the Budget.

72



2.4.3 It is considered that this should be amended slightly to refer to the reference within 
Standing Order No. 26.  Proposed amendments are shown in appendix D to this report. 

2.5.1 Appointments to Outside Bodies 

2.5.1 The Constitution apparently allows both the Cabinet and the full Council to appoint 
members to outside bodies. This function is included under Schedule 2 of the Local 
Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000 ("the 2000 
Regulations").  This Schedule relates to "functions which may be (but need not be) the 
responsibility of an authority's executive".   There is some confusion here: this is because:

 reference to appointing members to outside bodies is made twice in the list of 
Council functions and once in the list of Cabinet functions; and

 there are some conflicting provisions in the Constitution making it difficult to 
determine which appointments should be approved by which body (Cabinet or 
Council). This needs to be clarified.

2.3.2 As Schedule 2 of the 2000 Regulations gives the Council a choice of which body appoints 
outside bodies, it is suggested that both Cabinet and full Council should be able to make 
any outside body appointments (which was the original intention), and that the Constitution 
be amended to reflect this.

2.5.2 It is therefore suggested that the amendments proposed at Appendix E to this report be 
made.

2.6 Modern Slavery Act 2015 

2.6.1 The Modern Slavery Act 2015 is aimed at combating crimes of slavery and human 
trafficking.  Under sections 1, 2 and 4 of the Act it is an offence for any person: 

 to held another person in slavery or servitude
 to require another person to perform forced or compulsory labour 
 to arrange or facilitate the travel of another person with a view to that other person 

being exploited
 to commit any offence with the intention of arranging or facilitating the travel of 

another person with a view to that person being exploited.   

2.6.2 Regulation 57 of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 states that contracting authorities 
shall exclude an economic operator from participation in a procurement procedure where 
they have established that the economic operator has been convicted of (amongst others) 
any offences under sections 1, 2 or 4 of the Modern Slavery Act 2015. There is currently no 
reference within the Council's Contract Procedure Rules to the mandatory exclusions 
provided under Regulation 57 and it is felt that reference to this Regulation would be a 
useful reminder to officers.

2.6.3 Section 54 also requires commercial organisations which operate in the United Kingdom 
and which have a global turnover above £36 million, to publish a slavery and human 
trafficking statement for each financial year that ends on or after 31 March 2016.  A slavery 
and human trafficking statement is a statement of the steps the organisation has taken 
during the financial year to ensure that slavery and human trafficking is not taking place in 
any of its supply chains and in any part of its own business. 

73



2.6.4 Whilst there is no specific requirement for the Council to ensure that these statements are 
provided, Rule 1 of the Council's Contract Procedure Rules states that all procurement 
procedures must (amongst other things) be consistent with the highest standards of 
integrity.  It is felt that this should include ensuring that all measures are taken to ensure 
that contractors comply with section 54 of the Modern Slavery Act 2015. 

2.6.5 It is therefore recommended that the Council's Contract Procedure rules be amended as 
shown in Appendix F to this report. 

2.7 Governance and Audit Committee 

2.7.1 In Part 3 Section D of the Constitution (Delegations to Committees) the membership of the 
Governance and Audit Committee (currently at page 49 of the Constitution) is described as 
"6 members and 2 substitutes politically balanced".

2.7.2 In fact this should be "6 non-Cabinet members and 2 substitutes politically balanced" and it 
is recommended that the Constitution be amended accordingly. 

3.0 CONSULTATION

3.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Commission has been consulted on these changes and 
supports them.

.
4.0 OPTIONS

4.1 Members have the option to agree or disagree each proposed amendment, or to require 
alternative amendments. 

5.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

5.1 The amendments are proposed in order to provide clarity within the Constitution, ensure 
consistency, and eliminate errors. 

6.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

6.1 To provide clarity and consistency within the Constitution and eliminate errors.

7.0 IMPLICATIONS

7.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

7.1.1 none

7.2 Constitution & Legal

7.2.1 There are no specific legal implications.  The proposed amendments are recommended in 
order to provide clarity and consistency within the Constitution, and eliminate errors. 

7.3 Contracts

7.3.1 None 

7.4 Corporate Priorities

7.4.1 None 

74



7.5 Crime and Disorder 

7.5.1 None 

7.6 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

7.6.1 None 

7.7 Health and Wellbeing

7.7.1 None 

7.8 Financial 

7.8.1 None 

7.9 Risk Management 

7.9.1 None 

7.10 Staffing

7.10.1 None 

7.11 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

7.11.1 None 

8.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

8.1 None 

9.0 ACRONYMS 

9   .1 None 

Background papers:- Council's Constitution 

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Mark Stinson – Executive Manager, Governance 
Telephone Number: 01775 761161
Email: rmark.stinson@breckland-sholland.gov.uk 

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No. 

Appendices attached to this report:

APPENDIX A  - Call-In - Urgent Executive Decisions which are not Key Decisions (paragraph 
2.1.1) and Executive Decisions which are subject to External Deadlines (paragraph 2.1.2) – 
Proposed amendments to Constitution 

75

mailto:rmark.stinson@breckland-sholland.gov.uk


APPENDIX B – Membership of the Cabinet - Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Council - 
Proposed amendments to the Constitution 
APPENDIX C – Standing Committees - Proposed amendments to the Constitution
APPENDIX D – Performance of Executive Functions - Proposed amendments to the Constitution
APPENDIX E – Appointment to Outside Bodies - Proposed amendments to the Constitution
APPENDIX F – Modern Slavery Act 2015 – Proposed amendments to the Constitution 

76



77



APPENDIX A  - Call-In - Urgent Executive Decisions which are not Key Decisions (paragraph 
2.1.1) and Executive Decisions which are subject to External Deadlines (paragraph 2.1.2) – 
Proposed amendments to Constitution 

Proposed amended wording is shown in red

Proposed amendment 1 

Part 3 Section D – Delegations to Committees – Overview and Scrutiny - Call-In Procedure for 
Executive Decisions

The following additional wording be added immediately after the heading "Call-In Procedure for 
Executive Decisions" at page 47.

"(Call-in does not apply to Executive Decisions taken under Rules 12 to 15 of the Access to 
Information Procedure Rules)" 

Proposed amendment 2

Access to Information Procedure Rules 

Existing Rules 14 to 18 be renumbered 16 to 20, and the following additional Rules be added: 

"14.0 Special Urgency – Non-Key Decisions – Application of Call-In 

14.1 Where for any Non-Key Decision any delay likely to be caused by the call-in process would 
seriously prejudice the Council's or the public's interest the Executive Decision shall not be 
subject to call-in subject to:

 the Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Commission agreeing both that the 
decision proposed is reasonable in all the circumstances and to it being treated as a 
matter of urgency (in the absence of the Chairman, the Chairman of the Council or 
in his/her absence the Vice-Chairman of the Council's consent shall be required.  In 
the absence of all three, the Head of the Paid Service or his/her nominee's consent 
shall be required); and 

 the decision notice stating that the decision is not subject to call-in and the reasons 
why the delay caused by the call-in procedure is considered to be seriously 
detrimental to the Council's or the public's interest; and 

 a report being submitted to the next available meeting of full Council indicating the 
reasons for the urgency.

15.0  Special Urgency  - Executive Decisions subject to External Deadlines – Application of  Call-In  

15.1 Where any Executive Decision (whether Key Decision or Non-Key Decision) is subject to 
external (eg Government) deadlines such that it is not possible for the decision to be 
subject to the usual call-in procedure the proposed decision may instead be subject to a 
pre-decision scrutiny by the Overview and Scrutiny Commission subject to: 

 the Leader, Deputy Leader, relevant Portfolio Holder or (where the decision will be 
taken by an officer) the relevant officer being in attendance at the meeting of the 
Panel to answer relevant questions

 the Overview and Scrutiny Commission being required to set out in writing any 
concerns about the proposed decision 

78



 the decision-maker then making the final decision taking into account any concerns 
raised by the Commission, and the final decision notice explaining the decision in 
relation to the concerns raised by the panel

 the decision taking effect immediately the decision is made.

15.2 When this Rule applies such scrutiny could, if need be, take place on the same day as (but 
before) the Executive Decision is made." 

Proposed amendment 3

Access to Information Procedure Rule 1.0, be amended as follows:

In paragraph (c), which states that Rules 11-18 apply to Cabinet, Committees of the Cabinet, 
Cabinet Members, officers making Executive Decisions and any Executive joint committees, 
reference to Rules 11-18 be amended to refer to Rules 11-20

In paragraph (d), which states that Rules 14 and 17 also apply to the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees,  reference to Rules 14 and 17 be amended to refer to 15 and 19 

Proposed amendment 4 

Access to Information Procedure Rule 10.5 be amended so that it refers to Rules 11-20 (rather 
than Rules 11-18) applying to Cabinet,  Committees of the Cabinet, Individual Cabinet Members, 
officers an any Joint Arrangements. 

For clarification, the re numbering in amendments 3 and 4 takes account of the additional Rules 
detailed in amendment 2 above. 

79



APPENDIX B – Membership of the Cabinet - Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Council - 
Proposed amendments to the Constitution – paragraph 2.2 of the report refers. 

Proposed amended wording is shown underlined and in red

Proposed amendment 1

Article 7 paragraph 2.0 (currently at page 20) 

" 2.0 Form and Composition of the Cabinet
2.1 The Cabinet (which is also known as the Executive) will consist of:-
(a) the Leader; and
(b) at least two but not more than 9 Councillors appointed to the Cabinet by the
Leader, but the Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Council may not be appointed as Cabinet 
members"

Proposed amendment 2

Executive Powers – Arrangements by Leader for Cabinet Delegations - second column (currently 
at page 39) 

"Maximum 9 member (excluding the Leader. The Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Council may 
not be appointed as Cabinet members"

Proposed amendment 3  

Standing Order no. 22.2 (currently at page 82) 

" The Leader shall have the power to appoint up to nine Cabinet Members (including the Deputy 
Leader).  The Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Council may not be appointed as Cabinet 
members." 

Proposed amendment 4

Standing Order no, 23 (currently at page 82) 

"23.1 The Cabinet shall consist of the Leader and the Cabinet Members. The Chairman and Vice-
Chairman of the Council may not be appointed as Cabinet members." 

80



 
APPENDIX C – Standing Committees - Proposed amendments to the Constitution – 
paragraph 2.3 of the report refers

Proposed amended wording is shown underlined in red

Proposed amendment 1 

Glossary of terms – Miscellaneous Definitions (currently at pages 4 and 5)

Add the following definition: 

"Standing Committee" means a Committee (whether required by statute or otherwise) which has 
been established by the full Council on a permanent basis to do its assigned work on an ongoing 
basis.  The Standing Committees of the Council are detailed in Part 3 Section D of the Constitution 
(Delegations to Committees) and exclude full Council, Cabinet, and any Committees of the Cabinet 
(there are presently no Committees of the Cabinet)"

Proposed amendment 2 

All references to "standing committee" be amended to read "Standing Committee". 

81



APPENDIX D – Performance of Executive Functions - Proposed amendments to the 
Constitution – paragraph 2.4 of the report refers

Proposed amended wording is shown underlined in red

Proposed amendment 1 

Part 3 Section D (Delegations to Committee)
D1 – General Provisions relating to Executive powers (currently at page 39)

"3. Subject to Standing Order no. 26, Executive Functions may only be exercised if
(a) they fall within the Policy Framework and 
(b) they are within the Budget."

82



APPENDIX E – Appointment to Outside Bodies - Proposed amendments to the Constitution 
– paragraph 2.5 of the report refers

Proposed amended wording is shown crossed out, underlined and in red

Proposed amendment 1 

Part 3 Section D – Delegations to Committees – Full Council (currently at page 37)
Functions/Terms of Reference 

"1. (g) Appointment of representatives to joint authorities, and joint committees and other outside 
bodies unless the appointment is a Cabinet function or has been delegated by the Council (Non-
Executive Functions only). 

Proposed amendment 2 

Part 3 Section D – Delegations to Committees – Full Council (currently at page 39)
Functions/Terms of Reference 

"22.  As detailed in paragraph 19 of Schedule 2 of the 2000 Regulations, The appointment of any 
individual 
(a) To any office other than an office in which he/she is employed by the Council where this is 

an executive function 
(b) To any body other than: the Council; a joint committee of two or more authorities; or to any 

committee or sub-committee of such a body, and 
and the revocation of any such appointment.

(The above function is detailed at Schedule 2 of the 2000 Regulations and may be carried out by 
both the full Council and the Cabinet.) (Appointments to outside bodies at (b) above may be made 
for more than one municipal year, including periods up to the date of the next District Council 
election)." 

Proposed amendment 3 

Part 3 Section D – Delegations to Committees – Arrangements by Leader for Cabinet Delegations 
– D3 – Delegations to Cabinet (currently at page 41)

That the existing item (a) at the bottom of section D3 on page 41 of the Constitution be moved so 
that it is listed above the Schedule 2 items subject to the following amendments:

"The appointment of any individual:
(a) To any office other than an office in which he/she is employed by the Council where this is 

an executive function 
(b) To any body other than: the Council; a joint committee of two or more authorities; or to any 

committee or sub-committee of such a body, and 
and the revocation of any such appointment.

(The above function is detailed at Schedule 2 of the 2000 Regulations and may be carried out by 
both the full Council and the Cabinet.) (Appointments to outside bodies at (b) above may be made 
for more than one municipal year, including periods up to the date of the next District Council 
election)." 

83



Proposed amendment 4

The Cabinet functions at page 41 be renumbered, slightly amended and re-ordered so that from 
half way down page 41 the functions of the Cabinet read as follows:

“The following functions, detailed at Schedule 2 of the 2000 Regulations, are reserved to Cabinet 
unless otherwise delegated to an officer of the Council: 

(a ) Any function under a local Act other than a function specified or referred to in regulation 2 or 
Schedule 1 of the 2000 Regulations 
(b ) Any function relating to contaminated land 
(c ) The discharge of any function relating to the control of pollution or the management of air 
quality 
(d ) The service of an abatement notice in respect of a statutory nuisance
(e ) The passing of a resolution that Schedule 2 to the Noise and Statutory Nuisance Act 1993 
should apply in the authority’s area
(f ) The inspection of the authority’s area to detect any statutory nuisance 
(g ) The obtaining of particulars of persons interest in land under section 16 of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976

The second reference to functions detailed at Schedule 2 of the 2000 Regulations at the bottom of 
part D3 be removed.

(h ) The making of agreements with local authorities and other bodies for the placing of staff at the 
disposal of those other authorities or bodies.  

84



 APPENDIX F – Modern Slavery Act 2015 – Proposed amendments to the Constitution 

Proposed amended wording is shown underlined in red

Proposed amendment 1 

Contract Procedure Rule 2.1 (currently at page 115)

"2.1 Officers 

Officers will comply with 
(a) these Contractor Procedure Rules (CPRs) 
(b) the Council's Constitution 
(c) all UK and EU legal requirements (including ensuring that any contractors are mandatorily 

excluded from participation in a procurement procedure where Regulation 57 of the Public 
Contracts Regulations 2015 applies)"

Proposed amendment 2 

Contract Procedure Rule 2.2 (currently at page 116) 

2.2.1 Chief Officers/ Deputy Chief Officers will:

(a) ensure their Service Grouping complies fully and are familiar with the requirements of these 
Contract Procedure Rules

(b) ensure contracts are recorded in the Contracts Register as held and maintained by 
Corporate Improvement and Performance team 

(c) ensure compliance with English Law, UK and EU legislation and Council policy (including 
ensuring that any contractors are mandatorily excluded from participation in a procurement 
procedure where Regulation 57 of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 applies) 

(d) " etc  

Proposed amendment 3 

Contract Procedure Rule 22.1.6 (currently at page 132)

"22.1.6   In addition, every Relevant Contract for purchases over £25,001.00 for works,
£25,001.00 for supplies of goods, materials or services and £10,000.00 for consultants
must also as a minimum state clearly:

(a) that the contractor may not assign or sub-contract without prior written consent;

(b) any insurance and liability requirements;

(c) health and safety requirements;

(d) ombudsman requirements;

(e) data protection requirements if relevant;

85



(f) that charter standards are to be met if relevant;

(g) requirements under the Equalities Act 2010;

(h) obligations under the Care Act 2014 in safeguarding adults and children;

(i) a right of access to relevant documentation and records of the contractor for
monitoring and audit purposes, including obligations under the Freedom of
Information Act 2000 and 2015 Transparency Code;

(j) requirements under the Counter-Terrorism and Security Act 2015 and Prevent
Strategy where applicable;

(k) Obligations under the Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998 including employee
whistleblowing.

(l) statement requirements under the Modern Slavery Act 2015" 

86



87


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	4 Chairman's Announcements
	8 Planning Committee
	Minutes

	9 Overview and Scrutiny Commission
	10 Localised Council Tax Reduction Scheme (LCTRS) 2018-19 Review
	Appendix 1 for Localised Council Tax Reduction Scheme (LCTRS) 2018-19 Review
	Appendix 2 for Localised Council Tax Reduction Scheme (LCTRS) 2018-19 Review
	Introduction
	The public sector Equality Duty
	Duty to mitigate the effects of child poverty
	The Armed Forces covenant
	Duty to prevent homelessness

	Appendix 3 for Localised Council Tax Reduction Scheme (LCTRS) 2018-19 Review
	Appendix 4 for Localised Council Tax Reduction Scheme (LCTRS) 2018-19 Review

	11 Amendments to Constitution

